

# **UNIVERSIDAD DE GRANADA**

# DEPARTAMENTO DE BIOQUÍMICA Y BIOLOGÍA MOLECULAR 3 E INMUNOLOGÍA

# "MECHANISMS OF INDUCTION OF APOPTOSIS IN HEMATOPOPIETIC CELLS BY SULPHATED BACTERIAL EXOPOLISACCHARIDES"

## **TESIS DOCTORAL PRESENTADA POR**

## GIRISH K. SRIVASTAVA

Granada, Enero 2008

Editor: Editorial de la Universidad de Granada Autor: Girish K. Srivastava D.L.: Gr. 591- 2008 ISBN: 978-84-338-4916-8

### Contents

Intro	duc	tion	1
	1.	Halophiles	1
	2.	Exopolysaccharides	3
	3.	Physical and Chemical Properties of EPS	5
	4.	Exopolysaccharides and Immunology	7
	5.	Apoptosis	10
	5.	1. Caspases	15
	5.	2. Extrinsic pathway of apoptosis	20
	5.	3. Intrinsic pathway of apoptosis	23
	5.	3.1. Mitochondria	24
	5.	3.2. The Bcl-2 family	27
	6. (	Cross-talk between Apoptotic Pathways	30
Obje	ctiv	es	32
Mate	rial	s and Methods	34
	1.	Reagents and antibodies	35
	2.	Cells and cell culture	36
	3.	Analysis of cell cycle and determination of apoptotic cells	37
	4.	Immunoblot detection of proteins	38
	5.	Flow cytometric analysis of mitochondrial membrane depolarization	39
	6.	Flow cytometric analysis of ROS production	39
Resu	lts		41
	0	versulphated B100 EPS induce apoptosis in haematopoietic cell lines	42
	In	duction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in non-haematopoietic cell lines	52
	In	duction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in primary normal lymphocytes	53
	R	eproducibility and temperature stability of the oversulphated B100 EPS	55
	A	poptosis induced by oversulphated B100 in leukemic T cells is caspase-dependent	56
	М	itochondrial alterations associated with oversulphated B100-induces apoptosis	

in leukemic T cells	61
Over expression of $Bcl-x_L$ causes partial protection of apoptosis induced by	
oversulphated B100	67
Oversulphated B100 induces apoptosis in primary leukemic T cells	68
Discussion	
Conclusions	78
References	80

Introduction

### 1. Halophiles

In microbial world, halophiles are extremophiles (bacteria and other micro-organisms) that thrive in environments with very high concentrations of salt (at least 2 M, approximately ten times the salt level of ocean water). Normal ocean water has a saline/salt level of 30 percent. Some environments that halophiles live in are the Great Salt Lake in Utah, Owens Lake in California, the Dead Sea, and saltines (crackers). The name "Halophiles" comes from Greek for "salt-loving" (halo=salt and phile=loving). Some halophiles are classified into the Archaea kingdom, but there are bacterial halophiles as well.

Halophiles are categorized as debile, moderate and extreme by the extent of their halophilism.

• No halophiles

Its optimal growth takes place at a concentration of NaCl inferior to 0.2 M (1%p/v). Bacteria able to grow in the absence of salt as well as in the presence of relatively high salt concentrations are designated halotolerant (or extremely halotolerant if growth extends above 2.5 M).

• Debile halophiles

Also called marine bacteria. Its optimal growth takes place at a concentration of NaCl of 0.2-0.5 M (1-3% p/v).

• Moderate

They grow in optimal form at concentrations of NaCl between 0.5 and 2.5 M (3-15% p/v).

• Extreme halophiles,

They have an optimal growth between 2.5 and 5.2 M of NaCl. The majority of halophiles are classified as moderate or debile. It is very difficult to encounter an extreme halophile.

Compared to the extensive literature on the physiology, biochemistry, and ecology of the Archaea, the halophilic bacteria have been relatively little studied. However, halophilic bacteria have the potential for exciting and promising applications. Not only do many of compounds of industrial interest (enzymes, them produce polymers. and osmoprotectans), but also they possess useful physiological properties which can facilitate their exploitation for commercial purposes. First, most of them can grow at high salt concentrations (Eisenberg, 1995), minimizing the risk of contamination. Second, they are easy to grow, and their nutritional requirements are simple: the majority can use a large range of compounds as their carbon and energy source (Kushner and Kamekura, 1988). A number of studies carried out, especially during the last decade, have increased our current knowledge about different aspects of halophilic bacteria, such as their physiology, ecology, taxonomy or phylogenetic relationships with other microorganisms, and, to a lesser extent, their genetics and industrial applications of their special activities. These studies show that each halophile has distinct characteristics, and it is expected that the identification of these unique properties of each strain will contribute to the development of novel biotechnological uses for these organisms.

Some novel groups of *Halomonas* have been identified in Southern Spain over the last few years- *Halomonas maura* was isolated from soils of Salinas de Sabinar, Murcia, and San Pedro del Pinatar, Murcia (Bouchotroch et al., 2001). *Halomonas anticariensis*  FP34 (Martinez-Canovas et al., 2004e; Martinez-Canovas et al., 2004c; Martinez-Canovas et al., 2004b; Martinez-Canovas et al., 2004d; Martinez-Canovas et al., 2004a) was isolated from soils of Laguna Redonda, Málaga.

#### 2. Exopolysaccharides

Polysaccharides are made up of multiple monosaccharides joined together by glycosidic linkages. They are therefore very large, often branched, molecules that tend to be amorphous, insoluble in water, and have no sweet taste. Polysaccharides have a general formula of  $C_n(H_2O)_n$  where n is usually a large number between 200 and 2500. The general formula can also be represented as  $(C_6H_{12}O_6)_n$  where n=40-3000.

In the microbial environment, bacteria produce a wide variety of exopolysaccharide (EPS) that are used by these microorganisms to cope in various ways with adverse external environments. Bacterial EPS are highly heterogeneous polymers containing a number of distinct monosaccharides and non-carbohydrate substituents, many of which are strain-specific (Sutherland, 1985; Whitfield, 1988). External environment of bacteria can be extreme or non-extreme, but the EPS of extracellular matrix of bacteria provide them protection and improve their surviving condition in the environment. Specificity of EPS makes them important in bacterial infections of animals and plants because these components may support the bacteria to evade host defences or to adhere to appropriate surfaces and generate their surviving condition. They are essential for the establishment of bacterial biofilms in a variety of environments (Costerton et al., 1995; Leigh and Coplin, 1992; Moxon and Kroll, 1990).

From past many years there has been an increased scientific understanding of EPS biological specificity and its subsequent relation to the body's immune system. Not only EPS of microbes have biological importance for immune system, but EPS of plants and animals also have very useful biological properties which can be investigated and utilized in the biotechnology industry for their possible application in controlling the immune system. As we know, an EPS rich extracellular matrix surrounds all plant cells that is called primary cell wall. Obviously primary cell wall of plant has a structural function and influences plant cell expansion, morphogenesis and differentiation. But EPS present as a component of plant cell walls also play a role of signal molecules in defence mechanisms. In recent years, EPS of plant origin have emerged as an important class of bioactive natural products. They are reported to have blood anticoagulant (Shanmugam et al., 2001; Siddhanta et al., 1999), anti-tumour, anti-mutagenic, antii-complementary, immunomodulating, hypoglycemic, antiviral, hypolipidemic and anti-inflammatory activities (Srivastava and Mustafa, 1989; Srivastava, 1989).

EPS are also very important for some animal bodies. They are made available to body through the food. As an example, chitin makes up exoskeletons of small insects, spiders, animals, etc. and it consists of N-acetylglucosamine that has bioactive nature. This way, there are many body components which are made of polysaccharides and the properties of the polysaccharides provide them different functional properties. A powerful blood anticoagulant activity has been detected various animal in glycosaminoglycans/proteoglycans. Heparin is the most widely known and therapeutically used glycosaminoglycan, comprising various sulphated, alternating, 1,4linked residues of uronic acid and D-glucosamine (Casu, 1985; Lane and Caso, 1989). Heparan sulphate and dermatan sulphate are other endogenous sulphated EPS which play a physiological anticoagulant role (Lane et al., 1992; Teien et al., 1976). Chemically-related polysaccharides have also been identified in numerous living organisms. However, there is a lack of knowledge of the correlation between the molecular structure of polysaccharides, which can today be altered in an almost unlimited ways, and their material properties. Furthermore, there is a lack of technology for the controlled conversion of these polysaccharides for industrial exploitation.

Thus, many EPS can be extracted from plants, animals and microbes and their bioactive properties can be utilized for their biotechnological exploitation or the development of new therapeutic drugs.

### 3. Physical and Chemical Properties of EPS

Previous studies have precisely identified the physical and biochemical properties of the EPS used in this study (Mata et al., 2006); Mata et al, unpublished results).

	Chemical Composition (%p/p)										
EPS	СН	Prot	URO	Acet	Pir	Hex	Ashes	Sulp	hat	Ph	osphat
H.maura B100	33.2	1.65	4.1	0.25	2.7	2.4	16.5	7.9		0.2	.5
H. maura N12	30.4	1.05	1.65	1.95	2.15 2.8		18.5	18.5 2.45		0.35	
H.anticariensis	30	3.5	2.4	0.75	5 2.3 2.		24.5	2.25		0.4	
FP34											
EPS	MW	Monosaccharides (%p/p)									
	(Da)	Glu	Man	Gal	Ran	n Fuc	Ara	Xil	AG	al	AGlc
H.maura B100	3.75x10 <sup>5</sup>	44.5	15	40.5	5 ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	)	ND
H.maura N12	2.5x10 <sup>5</sup>	48.82	25.47	7 ND	ND	25.6	9 ND	ND	ND	)	ND
H.anticariensis	$5.3 \times 10^4$	14.6	59.95	5 ND	1.15	ND	ND	1.35	22.	95	ND
FP34											

Table 1. Composition of EPS B100, N12 and FP34 (Mata et al, unpublished results)

\*CH: Carbohydrates; Prot: Protein; URO: Uronic acid; Acet: Acetyl rests; Pir: Piruvic; Hex: Hexamine; ND: Not detected; MW: Molecular weight; Glu: Glucose; Man: Manose; Gal: Galactose; Ram: Ramnose; Fuc: Fucose; Ara: Arabinose; Xil: Xilose; AGal: Galacturonic acid; AGlc: Glucouronic acid

The interactions of every EPS with the environment, including those with other microbes and host organisms, its infectiousness, the exchange of nutrients and waste products, and the resistance to external stresses as caused by mechanical, chemical, thermal, and osmotic factors determine largely the physical and chemical properties of EPS of the extracellular matrix. At a molecular level, the physical properties of EPS are greatly influenced by the ionic content of the surrounding bulk aqueous phase and by water molecules. The physic-chemical properties of EPS will differ significantly from

those of purified components and will also be substantially affected by the ionic strength of the surrounding medium and the nature of the cationic species (Allison and Matthews, 1992). Moreover, EPS also vary in their water solubility, some being highly soluble in water or dilute salt solutions whilst others are virtually insoluble in water (Sutherland, 1985). Thus, polysaccharides may be hydrophilic but can also have hydrophobic properties (Neu et al., 1992; Neu and Marshall, 1990). Most EPS in solution undergo a change from order to disorder on heating or on removal of ions. Such changes may be reflected by increasing solubility and eventual dissolution or sloughing from an EPS (Parolis et al., 1996). The biological properties such as blood anticoagulant, anti-tumour, anti-mutagenic, anti-complementary, immunomodulating, hypoglycemic, antiviral, hypolipidemic and anti-inflammatory activities (Srivastava and Mustafa, 1989; Srivastava, 1989) of EPS are of interest for the development of new therapeutic drugs. Thus, the precise knowledge of the chemical composition and physical, chemical and biological properties of EPS are of the utmost importance to design the strategies for developing these new potentially therapeutic drugs.

### 4. Exopolysaccharides and Immunology

As it has been already mentioned in this introduction, the peculiar properties of EPSs form the basis for a wide range of applications in food, pharmaceutical, petroleum, and other industries. It has been shown that EPSs isolated from bacteria have interesting immunomodulatory properties. A simple demonstration of these properties is evident with an EPS purified from culture supernatants of *Paenibacillus jamilae* CP-7, a grampositive bacillus isolated from compost prepared with olive mill wastewaters that has shown interesting immunomodulatory properties (Ruiz-Bravo et al., 2001). It was

demonstrated that administration of EPS to BALB/c mice by the intraperitoneal route had a low level of acute toxicity. There was suppression of the proliferative responses of splenocytes to B-cell and T-cell mitogens but a significant enhancement in the production of gamma interferon and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by unstimulated and lipopolysaccharide-stimulated splenocytes in vitro, and there was also an increase in the levels of resistance to the intracellular pathogen Listeria monocytogenes in mice due to the immunomodulatory effects of EPS from P. jamilae (Ruiz-Bravo et al., 2001). These results support the potential pharmacological activity of EPSs. In recent years, research has focused on the mechanisms of action of EPSs (Yan et al., 1999b), as well as on the discovery of new ones (Tian et al., 1999b). Until now, several EPSs have been discovered which are known to possess immunological activities with potential pharmacological applications as biological response modifiers (BRMs). The wide spectrum of BRMs currently available have anti-viral, anti-bacterial, anti-fungal, anti-parasitic, or anti-tumor activities as well as other therapeutic properties which may play critical immunological roles in protecting human health (Leung et al., 2006). BRMs are defined as agents with the property of altering the existing immune response after binding with specific cell surface receptors. BRMs can be cytokines, produced endogenously by immune cells or derivatives of bacteria, fungi, brown algae, Aloe vera and photosynthetic plants. Such exogeneous derivatives (exogeneous BRMs) can be nucleic acid (CpG), lipid (lipotechoic acid), protein or polysaccharide in nature, but polysaccharide BRMs have the widest occurrence in nature. A number of EPSs are able to induce resistance to bacterial infections in experimental models (Tzianabos et al., 1998), and some of them have been evaluated in clinical trials (Babineau et al., 1994). Lentinan and other fungal glucans, yeast mannan fractions, and a number of bacterial

EPSs have been identified and have been found to have the ability to favor tumor rejection (Whistler et al., 1976).

Investigators have focused to find the biomolecules that provoke a strong immune response while doing no damage to immune system. EPS are considered to be T-cellindependent antigens that do not elicit cell-mediated immune responses (Tzianabos, 2000). Recently, certain polysaccharides of microbial origin have also been shown to act as potent immunomodulators with specific activity for both T cells and antigenpresenting cells, such as monocytes and macrophages. Till now, very few EPS immunomodulators have been identified by researchers. Most of the studies for identification of EPS have been anecdotal in nature. Relatively very few EPS have been examined in detail where both structure-function and mechanism of action studies have been performed. Recent investigations have led to a more detailed understanding of structural aspects of EPS that govern biologic function and regulation of cytokine networks thus influencing host immune responses. Particular structure-function relationships have been identified and polysaccharide-specific receptors have been discovered that should provide a base for the development of compounds with novel activities. There are many bacterial EPSs which have mitogenic activities, such as the component of the capsular complex of Bacteroides fragilis, polysaccharide A that possesses mitogenic activity for T lymphocytes (Brubaker et al., 1999), inducing the production of interleukin-2 (IL-2) by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Tzianabos et al., 1999). Not only bacteria, a number of fungi and yeasts (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) (Patchen et al., 1998) also produce EPS with immunomodulatory activities. Some fungi and yeasts produce 4-(1,3)-glucans that differed in molecular weight and the number of 1-6 linkages and have important biologic activities (Tzianabos, 2000). A soluble derivative of 3-(1,3)-glucan has the ability to prime granulocytes and macrophages for enhanced cytokine release (Sherwood et al., 1987; Soltys and Quinn, 1999), reactive nitrogen intermediate production (Cleary et al., 1999), and bactericidal capacity (Wakshull et al., 1999). EPS do not affect only the level of cytokine release but they also affect the levels of other molecules involved in the immune response. An EPS from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, mannuronan, enhances natural cytotoxicity by increasing Fas ligand expression in NK cells (Halaas et al., 1998) and is also able to significantly promote hematopoiesis (Halaas et al., 1997). EPS purified from spent culture fluid of three *Capnocytophaga* species has shown its ability to activate the human complement system (Bolton and Dyer, 1986). Thus, the potential usefulness of EPSs due to their distinct biological properties in the treatment of infectious diseases has been clearly demonstrated.

### 5. Apoptosis

As we know, every cell has a time to live and a time to die. A cell can either die by injurious agents (e.g. mechanical damage, exposure to toxic chemicals) or be induced to commit suicide. Programmed cell death (PCD) is an interesting and very important cellular phenomena of life. PCD is as intrinsic for cells as mitosis and is involved in both degenerative and developmental processes of organs and organisms. It is distinguished from death by necrosis, an uncontrolled cell death, by the absence of an associated inflammatory response and lysis of cells that may induce serious health problems (Ellis et al., 1991). PCD comprises several subtypes, as revealed by electron microscopy. Apoptosis, or type I programmed cell death, is characterized by condensation of cytoplasm, preservation of organelles and disintegration of cytoskeletal elements in early stages. Autophagic cell death, or type II programmed cell death, occurs

in physiological and disease states and exhibits extensive autophagic degradation of Golgi apparatus, polyribosomes and endoplasmatic reticulum, which precedes nuclear destruction (Bursch et al., 2000b; Bursch et al., 2000a; Hughes and Rusten, 2007). Intermediate and microfilaments are largely preserved; presumably the cytoskeleton is required for autophagocytosis (Bursch et al., 2000b; Bursch et al., 2000b; Bursch et al., 2000a). Briefly, the autophagic pathway begins with the sequestration of cytoplasmic material in double-membrane vesicles known as autophagosomes (Klionsky and Emr, 2000).

The term Apoptosis is taken from Greek (apo- from, ptosis- falling) and it means "dropping off" of petals or leaves from plants or trees. Apoptosis was first identified by John F. Kerr in 1965 as a distinct death mechanism (Kerr, 1965), and by 1972 the term "apoptosis" had already been coined by Kerr and co-workers (Kerr et al., 1972). Furthermore, this seminal study recognized by electron microscopy the three main mechanisms of cell death: apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy (Kerr et al., 1972), although recent studies suggest the possibility of new mechanisms of PCD (O'Connell and Stenson-Cox, 2007).

Apoptosis involves biochemical events in a controlled, regulated fashion leading to a characteristic cell morphology and death in response to a variety of stimuli. In apoptotic process, a cell is executed in such a way as to safely dispose of cell corpses and fragments. This way, we can say apoptosis is a process in which cells play an active role in their own death. Apoptotic cells display distinctive morphology during the apoptotic process. Mainly, apoptosis is defined by the orchestrated collapse of a cell characterised by membrane blebbing, cell shrinkage resulting into loss of surface contact as cell separates from its neighbours, and loss of specialised membrane structures e.g.

microvilli and desmosomes; cell organelles become tightly packed making the cytoplasm appears dense; condensation of chromatin to the periphery of the nucleus forming crescents; nucleolus disintegration; loss of nuclear pores; nuclear fragmentation (karyorrhexis); and fragmentation of DNA followed by rapid engulfment of the apoptotic bodies containing cytoplasm, organelles and nuclear fragments by neighbouring cells or macrophages.

### Table 2. Characteristic pattern of morphological, biochemical and molecular changes of

### apoptosis

### **Morphological Changes**

- Cell shrinkage
- Cell shape change
- Condensation of cytoplasm
- Nuclear envelope changes
- Nuclear fragmentation
- Loss of cell surface structures
- Apoptotic bodies
- Cell detachment
- Phagocytosis of remains

### **Functional/Biochemical Changes**

- Free calcium ion rise
- Bcl-2/Bax interaction
- Cell dehydration
- Loss of mitochondrial membrane potential
- Proteolysis
- Phosphatidylserine externalisation
- Lamin B proteolysis
- DNA denaturation
- Intranucleosomal cleavage
- Protein cross-linking

Apoptosis is known as a genetically regulated form of cell death. Mainly apoptosis would be used to:

- "Sculpt" an organism during development such as during embryo development, metamorphosis and tissue atrophy
- Regulate the total number of cells.
- Defend and remove unwanted or dangerous cells like tumor cells, virally infected cells, or immune cells that recognize self (which could lead to autoimmune disease).

Apoptosis plays a central role not only in maintaining health but also in the pathogenesis of numerous diseases. Today, it is clear that this fundamental biological concept can be utilized for curing many important diseases such as AIDS, cancer or auto-immunity, and therefore has deep impacts on pharmaceutical markets and interests of research and development. In short, apoptosis is implicated in biological processes ranging from embryogenesis to ageing, from normal tissue homoeostasis to many human diseases, and it has therefore become one of the most relevant fields of biomedical research (Renehan et al., 2001).

Apoptosis is associated with controlling different types of diseases in two major ways. It has been already mentioned how increased apoptosis is characteristic of AIDS (Holm et al., 2004; Holm and Gabuzda, 2005), in which T helper cell numbers plummet and part of the dramatic decline in these cells is caused by increased apoptosis of that leads T helper cells into committing suicide; neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Leuner et al., 2007) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Bedlack et al., 2007); ischaemic injury after myocardial infarction, stroke and infectious diseases such as hepatitis; and graft versus host disease (Renehan et al., 2001). In contrast, decreased apoptosis is a feature of many other diseases such as cancer, in which tumor cells lose their ability to undergo apoptosis (Renehan et al., 2001). Investigation of cancer has already provided us with explanations about some causes of generation of cancer and how defects in apoptotic pathways allow cells with genetic abnormalities to survive (Sjostrom and Bergh, 2001). Experiments of the role of apoptosis in neurodegeneration have suggested how pro-apoptotic agents, such as caspases, might be new targets for therapeutic approaches (Gibson, 2001). There are many existing treatments which act through apoptosis, such as non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and anticancer treatments (Chan et al., 1998; Lu et al., 1995; Pasricha et al., 1995; Piazza et al., 1995; Shiff et al., 1995; Shiff et al., 1996)

Apoptosis normally involves two stages:

- Initiation: The first stage of apoptosis is the decision to activate the pathway by initiators. Initiators of apoptosis include deprivation of survival signals such as cytokines (Evans et al., 2003), growth factors (Gulli et al., 1996), hormones (Takebayashi et al., 1996); ligands for "death receptors" such as Fas and tumour necrosis factor receptors (Wallach et al., 1999), DNA damage (via p53) (Strasser et al., 1994), toxic agents (Schumacher et al., 2006), gamma (Kitada et al., 1996) and ultraviolet irradiation (Naik et al., 2007), anticancer drugs (Cummings et al., 2004) etc.
- 2. Activation of effector mechanisms: Through a variety of apoptotic pathways, these stimuli in turn generate a characteristic regulated pattern of gene expression also resulting into "suicide" of the cell (Williams and Smith, 1993). In general, caspases act as the central effectors or executioners of apoptosis but there are several molecular regulators of caspases and other caspase-independent effectors of apoptosis (Hail, Jr. et al., 2006). Through a variety of apoptotic pathways, these stimuli in turn generate a characteristic regulated pattern of gene expression also resulting into "suicide" of the cell (Williams and Smith, 1993).

### 5.1. Caspases

The execution of the death signal takes place through a common pathway that involves the activation of a series of proteases called caspases. The finding of Robert Horvitz and colleagues in 1993 that the *ced-3* gene was required for the cell death that took place during the development of the nematode *C. elegans* (Yuan et al., 1993) became the basis for the importance of caspases in apoptosis. The discovery of caspases as having a role in regulation of apoptosis led to an explosion of interest in these enzymes, which has resulted in what is probably a fairly accurate view of the fundamental mechanisms of apoptosis employed to kill cells. Horvitz and his colleague Junying Yuan (Yuan et al., 1993) reported that the protein encoded by the *ced-3* gene was a cysteine protease with similar properties and homologous in sequence to the mammalian interleukin-1-beta converting enzyme (ICE) (now known as caspase-1), a protein released by certain immune cells during proteolytic activation of the precursor to interleukin-1 and which can promote inflammation. It was the only known caspase at that time but these publications initiated a successful search of mammalian ICE homologues that should govern cell death.

Year	Discovery
1989	• Identification of pro- interleukin-1-beta processing activity (Black et al., 1989; Kostura et al., 1989)
1992	<ul> <li>Purification and cloning of caspase-1 (Cerretti et al., 1992; Thornberry et al., 1992)</li> </ul>
1000	• First viral caspase inhibitor (CrmA) identified (Ray et al., 1992)
1993	• CED-3 found to be closely related to Caspase-1 (Yuan et al., 1993)
1994	• Solution of first caspase three dimensional structure (Walker et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1994)
	<ul> <li>Identification of first mammalian caspase homologue (caspase-2) (Wang et al., 1994)</li> </ul>
	• Identification of first apoptotic caspase substrate (PARP) (Lazebnik et al., 1994)
1995	• First caspase knockout mouse (caspase-1) (Kuida et al., 1995; Li et al., 1995)
	<ul> <li>Caspase-3 implicated as a central mediator of apoptosis (Nicholson et al., 1995b; Tewari et al., 1995)</li> </ul>
	• Granzyme B found to activate caspase in CTL-mediated death (Darmon et al., 1995)
1996	• Caspase-3 knockout mouse described; demonstration that caspases are essential for mammalian apoptosis (Kuida et al., 1996)
	<ul> <li>Fas/FADD/Caspase-8 signaling pathway identified (Boldin et al., 1996; Muzio et al., 1996)</li> </ul>
1997	• Apaf1/caspase-9 signaling pathway identified (Li et al., 1997)
	• Identification of first mammalian caspase inhibitor (XIAP) (Deveraux et al., 1997)
	• Role of caspases in DNA degradation elucidated (DFF/CAD-ICAD)
	(Enari et al., 1998; Liu et al., 1997)
	<ul> <li>Identification of first decoy caspase (Irmler et al., 1997; Shu et al., 1997)</li> </ul>
1998	• Caspase mediated cleavage of Bid established as a link between FAS and mitochondrial signalling pathways (Li et al., 1998; Luo et al., 1998)
1999	• First identification of caspase mutation in a human genetic disease (caspase-10) (Wang et al., 1999)

Table	3.	Milestones	in	caspase	research
Lanc	υ.	Willestones	111	cuspuse	rescuren

Caspases are critical for apoptosis, inflammation, cytokine maturation and cell growth and differentiation (Denault and Salvesen, 2002; Denault and Salvesen, 2008; Wang and Lenardo, 2000). They constitute a family of intracellular cysteine proteases which are found in the cell as inactive pro-forms or zymogens that must undergo limited proteolysis for activation (Wang and Lenardo, 2000). Caspases are among the most selective proteases, with a stringent specificity for cleavage after aspartic acid. Their catalytical activity depends on a critical cysteine-residue within a highly conserved active-site pentapeptide QACRG (Alnemri et al., 1996; Nicholson et al., 1995a). Hence, they are known as **caspases** (cysteine-dependent **aspartate**-specific prote**ases**). In general, three amino acid residues that lie upstream of the aspartate residue in the substrate determine the specificity of recognition by individual caspases (Nicholson and Thornberry, 1997; Thornberry et al., 1997; Thornberry, 1997). So far, 7 different caspases have been identified in Drosophila, and 15 different members of the caspase-family have been described in mammals, which are named in the order of their discovery. All of them are expressed in humans except for caspase-11, which is solely found in mice (Denault and Salvesen, 2002; Denault and Salvesen, 2008; Richardson and Kumar, 2002), caspase-13, that is a bovine gene, and caspase-15 which is expressed in pig, dog and cattle.

Caspase-1 as well as caspases-4, -5, -11, and -12 appear to be mainly involved in the proteolytic maturation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18 and their contribution to the execution of apoptosis remains questionable (Denault and Salvesen, 2002; Denault and Salvesen, 2008). Caspase-3, -9, -8, and additionally caspases-2, -6, -7, and -10 have been recognized to play an important role in the apoptotic signalling machinery (Earnshaw et al., 1999). The proapoptotic caspases can be divided into the group of initiator caspases including procaspases-2, -8, -9 and -10, which are the first to be activated, and into the group of executioner caspases including procaspases-3, -6, and -7. Whereas the executioner caspases posses only short

prodomains, the initiator caspases possess long prodomains, containing death effector domains (DED) in the case of procaspases-8 and -10 or caspase recruitment domains (CARD) as in the case of procaspase-9 and procaspase-2. Each caspase contains a consensus sequence for an initiator caspase, so that they cleave each other in an activation cascade mechanism, similar to the coagulation protease cascade. Therefore, caspases are activated in an ordered cascade with active initiators caspases cleaving and activating the effector caspases, which in turn degrade different cellular proteins such as kinases, cytoskeletal proteins and DNA repair proteins that finally lead to destruction of "housekeeping" cellular functions. Caspases also affect cytoskeletal structure, cell cycle regulation, and signaling pathways, ultimately leading to the morphologic manifestations of apoptosis, such as DNA condensation and fragmentation, and membrane blebbing (Mancini et al., 1998; Thornberry and Lazebnik, 1998) and cell removal by phagocytosis.

Cell survival or death is determined by a balance between the pro-life (anti-apoptotic) and pro-suicide (apoptotic) molecular signals. Apoptosis--the regulated destruction of a cell--is a complicated process. The decision to die cannot be taken lightly, and the activities of many genes influence a cell's likelihood of activating its self-destruction programme (Hengartner, 2000). Normally the molecular machinery required for apoptosis lays dormant in the cell, and it just requires appropriate activation. Usually, molecular events in apoptosis follow two pathways in accordance with signals involved in activating apoptosis:

- 1. Extrinsic pathway
- 2. Intrinsic pathway

### 5.2. Extrinsic pathway of apoptosis

The extrinsic pathway of apoptosis is induced by extra cellular signals (Ghobrial et al., 2005). These signals are trimeric death ligands that may be integral membrane proteins on the surface of a second cell (e.g., Fas/CD95/Apo-1 ligand) or soluble extracellular proteins (e.g., tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ) (Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1998). Binding of death ligands (FasL/CD95L, TRAIL/Apo-2L, Apo-3L and TNF- $\alpha$ ) induces trimerization of their corresponding death domain-containing receptors (CD95/Fas, DR4, DR5, Apo-3/DR3 and TNFR1) which then recruit adaptors such as FADD (Fas-associated death domain protein) and TRADD (TNFR-associated death domain protein) and activate caspases (Ashkenazi, 2002; Ashkenazi and Dixit, 1998; Debatin and Krammer, 2004; Fulda and Debatin, 2006; Rowinsky, 2005; Siegel et al., 2000; Zapata et al., 2001).



Figure 1. Coupling of ligands to their corresponding receptors and of caspase-8 or -10 to death receptors.

After binding of extracellular pro-apoptotic ligands, the intracellular domains of proapoptotic receptors, known as 'death domains', bind to the cytoplasmic adaptor proteins FADD and/or TRADD via homophilic interactions, which in turn interact with initiator caspases-8 and –10 through a death effector domain thus leading to the assembly of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) (Boldin et al., 1995; Chinnaiyan et al., 1995; Kischkel et al., 1995; Wang et al., 2001). TRADD is involved only in the coupling between caspases and DR3 or TNFR. When bound to the DISC, several procaspase-8 and -10 molecules are in close proximity and they are assumed to activate each other by autoproteolysis (Denault and Salvesen, 2002; Denault and Salvesen, 2008). This way, caspases-8 and -10 undergo self processing, releasing active enzyme molecules into the cytosol, where they activate effector caspases (Ashkenazi, 2002; Ghobrial et al., 2005; Thornberry and Lazebnik, 1998).



*Figure 2. Apoptotic pathways: Extrinsic and Intrinsic.* The induction of extrinsic pathway leads to the assembly of DISC. Self processing of initiator caspases-8 and –10 in DISC leads to release of active enzyme molecules into the cytosol to activate caspases -3, -6 and -7 which are also activated by the intrinsic pathway. The induction of intrinsic pathway leads to the destabilization of the mitochondrial membrane and release of mitochondrial apoptotic factors into the cytosol, which in turn cause apoptosome formation to activate caspase proteolytic cascade for leading to cell death ultimately.

#### 5.3. Intrinsic pathway of apoptosis

The second pathway of apoptosis is the intrinsic or mitochondrial pathway. The intrinsic pathway was discovered in 1995 in the laboratory of Guido Kroemer (Hirsch et al., 1997; Kroemer et al., 1995; Marchetti et al., 1996; Zamzami et al., 1995b; Zamzami et al., 1995a; Zamzami et al., 1996a; Zamzami et al., 1996b) and it is initiated in response to DNA damage, hypoxia, loss of cell survival factors, binding of nuclear receptors by glucocorticoids, heat, radiation, nutrient deprivation, viral infection, oxidative damage from free radicals or other types of severe cell stress that lead to the release of intracellular apoptotic signals resulting ultimately in cell suicide. The reception of stress signals leads to the destabilization of the mitochondrial membrane, activation of proapoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family and then release of mitochondrial apoptotic factors into the cytosol. Once released into the cytosol, these mitochondrial proteins activate both caspase-dependent and -independent cell death pathways. After release from damaged mitochondria into the cytosol, a mitochondrial apoptotic protein, cytochrome c, binds with Apaf1 and caspase-9 to form the apoptosome, which then activates the caspase proteolytic cascade, (Hockenbery et al., 1990). Other released mitochondrial proteins include the pro-apoptotic proteins Smac/DIABLO and Omi/HtrA-2, which are antagonists of the inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs), apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) and endonuclease G, both of which contribute to apoptotic nuclear DNA damage in a caspase-independent way (Saelens et al., 2004).

### 5.3.1. Mitochondria

Mitochondria are important organelles of the cells with two membranes -smooth outer membrane and inner folded or shelved (cristae) membrane that provide surface for generating adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-; different shapes varying from rod-shaped to round depending on the cell type; and that occur in different numbers in correlation with the cell's level of metabolic activity as mitochondria provide the energy that a cell needs to move, divide, produce secretory products, contract etc. Therefore, they are considered the power generators of the cell, converting oxygen and nutrients into ATP. At one hand, mitochondria play very important role in aerobic respiration for generating the energy for cell survival, but on the other hand, they have critical role in suicide of the cell also because change in the structure and function of mitochondria deeply affect the surviving machinery thus leading to apoptosis. Therefore, researchers have focused their attention on the mitochondria for exploring the biochemical changes of mitochondria during apoptosis.

Basic knowledge of apoptosis regulators provides the basis for novel therapeutic strategies aimed at promoting cell death in a number of pathological disorders including cancer or enhancing susceptibility to apoptotic inducers (Fernandez-Luna, 2007). Thus, if mitochondria are pivotal in controlling cell life and death, understanding the changes in regulation of biochemical events in mitochondria are very important for making novel therapeutic strategies. In general, these mechanisms are already known, and their effects may be interrelated:

1. Disruption of oxidative phosphorylation and electron transport, caused by irradiation and certain second messengers such as ceramide, which lead to disruption of the production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP).

- Disruption of mitochondrial transmembrane reduction-oxidation (redox) potential (Δψm) after exposure to different types of apoptosis-inducing stimuli (Marchetti et al., 1996; Zamzami et al., 1995a) that may lead to the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS).
- 3. Damage of mitochondrial and nuclear DNA by oxidants (Ames, 1989) or radiation (UV, X-rays, gamma irradiation) (Takai et al., 2006).
- 4. Increases in intracellular calcium ions through signal transduction.
- 5. Release of proteins from intermembrane space that trigger activation of the caspase family Membrane permeabilization leads to the release of apoptogenic proteins: cytochrome *c*, apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) (Susin et al., 1999), Smac/Diablo (Verhagen et al., 2000), HtrA2/Omi (Verhagen et al., 2002), and endonuclease G (Li et al., 2001).

Mitochondrial death decision is centred on various processes. At a first level, numerous physiological and some pathological stimuli trigger an increase in mitochondrial membrane permeability: inner membrane permeabilization, such as that promoted by the mitochondrial permeability transition pore formed across inner membranes when Ca2+ reaches a critical threshold; and mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization, in which the pro-apoptotic proteins Bax, and Bak play active roles (Belizario et al., 2007) in the molecular composition of membrane pores leading to permeabilization (see below). It has been reported that the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) pore - a dynamic multiprotein complex that spans both the outer and inner mitochondrial membranes – may be involved in the apoptotic events. It has been found to minimally consist of:

- An outer membrane protein known as VDAC (voltage-dependent anion channel).
- Adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT), a mitochondrial inner membrane protein involved in the ADP/ATP exchange.
- Several auxiliary proteins (e.g. matrix cyclophilin D).

In mammalian apoptosis, the MPT pore can mediate mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP), which is suspected to be responsible for the release of apoptogenic factors, including cytochrome c (Pereira et al., 2007). Most of research reports consider that the MPT complex can function as a sensor for stress and damage, probably at sites where the inner and outer membranes are in contact, as well as for certain signals connected to receptors. Other transporting pores and channels, including the ceramide channel as well as a non-specific outer membrane rupture may also be potential pathways for the release of factors through the outer membrane and to dissipate the electrochemical gradient of the inner membrane. However, the structure of MPT pore and its involvement in apoptosis are still highly controversial (Lawen, 2007) because many researchers believe that opening of MPT pore would lead to matrix swelling, subsequent rupture of the outer membrane, and an unspecific release of intermembrane proteins into the cytosol (Kinnally and Antonsson, 2007), while many others believe that MPT complex opening is a consequence of apoptosis and this channel play a principal role in necrosis, not apoptosis (Kinnally and Antonsson, 2007). In agreement with a critical role for MPT in apoptosis, it has been demonstrated that inhibition of transition pore by pharmacological intervention on mitochondrial structures or mitochondrial expression of the apoptosis-inhibitory oncoprotein Bcl-2 (Bakhshi et al., 1985; Cleary and Sklar, 1985; Tsujimoto et al., 1985) or Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> (Boise et

al., 1993) prevents cell death. Moreover, bioenergetic catastrophe within the cells starts due to collapse of the mitochondrial inner transmembrane potential, uncoupling of the respiratory chain, hyperproduction of superoxide anions, disruption of mitochondrial biogenesis, and outflow of matrix calcium and glutathione.

Mitochondrial cytochrome c (Liu et al., 1996; Yang et al., 1997) is a heme protein localized in the mitochondrial intermembrane space and is part of the mitochondrial electron transport chain. It acts as a water soluble mobile carrier of electrons in mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, shuttling electrons through cytochrome coxidase or complex IV. Release of cytochrome c from mitochondria results into inhibition of electron transfer in mitochondrial electron transport chain. That causes the accumulation of reducing equivalents in the middle portion of the electron transfer chain, and direct one-electron transfer to O<sub>2</sub> to produce superoxide (Turrens, 1997). Thus production of ROS, and the resulting cellular redox change, can be part of the mitochondrial signal transduction pathway during apoptosis. Yet, the mechanisms of ROS generation, and its relationship with the well studied caspase activation pathways, have not been resolved. This way, the fact that mitochondrial events control cell death has major implications for the development of cytoprotective and cytotoxic drugs.

#### 5.3.2. The Bcl-2 family

The Bcl-2 family of proteins comprises well characterized regulators of apoptosis that act upstream of caspase activation in the intrinsic pathway (Adams and Cory, 1998; Tsujimoto and Shimizu, 2000). It consists of the following three distinct subfamilies: 1) anti-apoptotic members, such as Bcl-2 and Bcl- $x_L$ , with sequence homology at Bcl-2 homology 1 (BH1), BH2, and BH3 domains, and in most cases BH4 domain as well; 2) pro-apoptotic members, such as Bax and Bak, with sequence homology at BH1, BH2, and BH3; and 3) pro-apoptotic proteins that only share homology at the BH3 domain (BH3-only proteins), such as Bid, Bik, and Bim (Adams and Cory, 1998; Tsujimoto and Shimizu, 2000). It has been shown that, in addition to BH1 and BH2, the BH4 domain is required for anti-apoptotic activity of Bcl-2 and Bcl- $x_L$  and that the BH3 domain of the pro-apoptotic members is essential and, itself, sufficient for pro-apoptotic activity (Adams and Cory, 1998; Green and Reed, 1998; Tsujimoto and Shimizu, 2000).

As it has been previously mentioned, both Bcl-2/Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> and Bax/Bak interact with VDAC to change the membrane permeability (Shimizu et al., 2000). The anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 and Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> close the VDAC channel. In addition to the prevention of release of mitochondrial apoptogenic factors to the cytoplasm, Bcl-2/Bcl-x<sub>L</sub> have also been shown to inhibit caspase-9 activation via forming complexes, comprising Bcl-2/Bcl-x<sub>L</sub>-Apaf-1procaspase<sup>9</sup> (Pan et al., 1998). The pro-apoptotic Bax and Bak proteins undergo conformational changes upon commitment to apoptosis and they can contribute to open the VDAC channel for the release of cytochrome c. However, the most likely mechanism for MOMP is the formation of a Bax/Bak-lipid pore with no further requirement for proteins in the inner or in the outer mitochondrial membranes(Martinou and Green, 2001). Although a Bax/Bak-independent, serine protease(s)-dependent, mechanism has been recently described for the released of cytochrome c in response to certain stimuli (Mizuta et al., 2007), most authors agree that MOMP is a process entirely controlled by the Bcl-2 family of proteins and their regulators. The anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members bind and sequester Bax and Bak inhibiting their activation. In contrast, the BH3-only proteins act upstream of Bax and Bak activating them in two different

ways. Some BH3-only proteins may directly bind to Bax and Bak to promote their activation while others bind to their pro-survival relatives, such as bcl-2 and Bcl- $x_L$ , thereby preventing them from inhibiting Bax and Bak (Adams and Cory, 1998; Green and Reed, 1998; Tsujimoto and Shimizu, 2000).



*Figure 3.- Role of Mitochondria in cell death.* Macauley, J. Taken from http://www.biocarta.com/pathfiles/h mitochondriaPathway.asp



*Figure 4. Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathway.* The induction of intrinsic pathway leads to the alteration in mitochondrial transmembrane permeability and reduction-oxidation (redox) potential. Changes in transmembrane permeability result into the release of cytochrome *c* which binds Apaf-1, caspase-9 and ATP for formation of apoptosome. Alteration of transmembrane redox potential results into production of ROS.

Figure taken from http://www.rndsystems.com/DAM\_public/5218.jpg

### 6. Cross-talk between Apoptotic Pathways

The existence of at least two well distinguishable cell death-signalling pathways (extrinsic and intrinsic) and the identification of the major molecular components of these pathways provide a framework for predicting the circumstances under which each one becomes engaged to initiate apoptosis. In recent years, it has become clear that there is a cross talk between the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways, but controversy surrounds

the degree to which cross-talk occurs between these two pathways in vivo. At a molecular level, this appears to occur via the proteolysis of Bid, a BH3 domaincontaining protein known to interact with both Bcl-2 and Bax. When Bid is truncated by caspase-8 (derived from the extrinsic pathway), the COOH-terminal part (tBid) translocates to mitochondria where it triggers cytochrome c release leading to activation of the intrinsic pathway (Luo et al., 1998). Hence, the identification of Bid as the 'gobetween,' transmitting signals from the extrinsic to the intrinsic pathway, provides a molecular basis for the cross-talk between the two pathways (Roy and Nicholson, 2000). The balance between proapoptotic factors (Bid, Bad, Bim, Bax, Bak) and antiapoptotic factors (Bcl-2, Bcl-xl, Bcl-w, Mcl-1) determines cytochrome c release and the fate of the cell (Liou et al., 2003). This balance depends not only on the respective levels of expression of these factors but also on their post-translational modifications and interactions (Liou et al., 2003). In principle, signals from the extrinsic pathway may require the assistance of the intrinsic pathway, i.e., when the signal strength is weak. Some cell types produce insufficient amounts of active caspase-8 at the receptor level, therefore, the induction of apoptosis via the extrinsic pathway requires additional cleavage of the proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bid through caspase-8, which activates the intrinsic pathway and subsequently apoptosis (type II cell-mechanism) (Barnhart et al., 2003; Luo et al., 1998).
Objectives

The biological importance of bacterial EPS has been extensively reviewed in the introduction of this work, being evident that these peculiar molecules have an extraordinary potential for the development of new applications both in biotechnology and drug development. Some sulphated EPS modulate the proliferation of different cell lines, and the presence of sulphate groups in EPS may critically influence the biological activity of the molecule. Consistent with this observation, preliminary studies carried out in our group have shown that hyperoversulphated forms of EPS of *Halomonas maura* (B100 and N12) and EPS of *Halomonas anticariensis* (FP34) cause a profound inhibition of cell proliferation in certain haematopoietic tumor cell lines (unpublished data). Although it has been demonstrated that this anti-proliferative effect is linked to the presence of sulphate groups in EPS B100, N12 and FP34, the mechanisms behind this activity and the significance of the sulphate groups are still undiscovered.

In this work, we have investigated the immunological importance of EPS of halophilic bacteria *Halomonas maura* and *Halomonas anticariensis*. The specific aims of this research work were:

- 1. To study if the anti-proliferative effect of the above indicated EPS is due to inhibition of cell division, the induction of necrosis or the induction of apoptosis.
- To identify the characteristics of the apoptosis induced by EPS, the significance of the sulphate groups in the induction of apoptosis and the degree of susceptibility of cells from different lineages.
- 3. To study the effect of EPS on primary cells.
- 4. To dissect the molecular and biochemical pathways leading to the induction of apoptosis by EPS, including their intracellular mediator and effector molecules.

**Materials and Methods** 

# 1. Reagents and antibodies

Native and oversulphated forms of exopolysaccharides B100, N12 and FP34 were provided by Dr. Emilia Quesada from the Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Granada, and stored at room temperature. A stock of 5 mg/ml of each exopolysaccharide was prepared in sterile PBS and stored at -20 °C. From this stock, dilutions of 0.5 mg/ml, 0.05 mg/ml and 0.005 mg/ml were used for the experiments. Native EPS were oversulphated according to the fucan sulfation method previously described (Nishino and Nagumo, 1992). Briefly, 0.5 g of EPS were dissolved in 50 ml of dimethyl formamide and stirred for 2 hours at room temperature, followed by an additional incubation of 2 hours at 45°C. A complex of pyridine-SO<sub>3</sub> was added dropwise in excess and incubated again for 2 hours at 45°C. The reaction was stopped by adding 20 ml of water, the pH adjusted to 9.0 and dialyzed against water. The sample was finally subject to lyophilization. Native EPS were alternatively desulphated by a salvolysis process in dimethyl sulfoxide (Haroun-Bouhedja et al., 2000).

Human recombinant TRAIL was prepared as described previously (MacFarlane et al., 1997). General caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK, caspase-9 inhibitor Z-LEHD-FMK and monoclonal anti-human caspase-9 antibody were provided by R&D system (Minneapolis, MN). Anti-human caspase-8 monoclonal antibody was purchased from Alexis Biochemicals (San Diego, CA). Anti-human caspase-3 polyclonal antibody was purchased from Stressgen bioreagents corp. (Victoria, CA). Mouse anti-human CD28 antibody was from eBioscience (San Diego, CA). The fluorescent cationic lipophilic dye 3, 3'-dihexyloxacarbocyanine iodide (DiOC<sub>6</sub>) was obtained from Molecular

Probes/Invitrogen (USA). Phytohemaglutinin (PHA), oxidation-sensitive fluorescent probe 5, 6-carboxy-2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein-diacetate (DCFH-DA) and N-acetyl cystein (NAC) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

# 2. Cells and cell culture

Following informed consent, blood samples were obtained from healthy donors and leukaemia patients of the Servicio de Análisis Clínicos, Hospital Virgen de las Nieves and Centro Regional de Transfusión Sanguínea, Granada, and collected into citrate tubes. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were prepared by Ficoll-Histopaque (Sigma) density gradient centrifugation and adherent monocytes were depleted by culture on plastic dishes for 1 h at 37 °C. Resting T lymphocytes were resuspended in RPMI 1640 medium (BioWhittaker Inc.) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco-BRL, Middlesex, UK), 1 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin (all from Hoffman-LaRoche, Nutley, NJ, USA) and incubated at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air incubator. For activation, resting T cells were cultured at 2×10<sup>6</sup> cells/ml with 5  $\mu$ g/ml PHA and 1  $\mu$ g/ml anti-CD28 for 20 h. After washing, cells were incubated in complete medium supplemented with 25 U/ml IL-2 (kindly supplied by the National Institutes of Health AIDS reagent program, Rockville, MD, USA) for an additional 5 or 9 days.

The cell lines Jurkat, CEM, MOLT-4 and HPB-ALL (derived from acute lymphoblastic leukemia), Raji, Daudi and Namalwa (from Burkitt's lymphoma), HL-60 (from human promyelocytic leukemia), K562 and HEL (from human erythroleukemia), U937 (from human promonocytic leukemia), SAM31 (Epstein-Barr virus transformed human B cells), ITA (Herpesvirus Saimiri-immortalized human T cells) and SKBr3, EVSA-T and

MCF-7 (derived from a human breast carcinoma), were all maintained in culture in RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% FBS, 1 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin and incubated at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air incubator, with the exception of Namalwa cells that were maintained with 5% FBS. BW5147 cells (mouse thymoma) were incubated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Gibco) with 10% FBS, 2-mercaptoethanol (0.5  $\mu$ M), penicillin and streptomycin at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air incubator. DSC cells (human decidual stromal cells) were maintained in Opti-MEM (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) with 100 U/ml penicillin, 50  $\mu$ g/ml gentamicin and 3% FBS. For all adherent cell lines, 10% trypsin was used for collecting cells and maintaining cell culture.

HPB-ALL, Namalwa and Daudi cell lines were kindly provided by Dr. Jaime Sancho (Instituto de Parasitología y Biomedicina, Granada, Spain). EVSA-T and MCF-7 cell lines were provided by Dr. Mariano Ruiz de Almodóvar (Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Granada, Spain). DSC cells were donated by Dr. Enrique García Olivares (Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Granada, Spain). SKBR3 cells were provided by Dr. Abelardo López Rivas (CABIMER, Sevilla, Spain). Jurkat cells overexpressing human Bcl- $x_L$  protein were kindly donated by Dr. Jacint Boix (Departamento de Ciencias Médicas Básicas, Universidad de Lleida, Spain) and maintained as parental Jurkat cells.

## 3. Analysis of cell cycle and determination of apoptotic cells

Cells (200.000 to 500.000 cells/well depending on cell type) were cultured in 12-well cell culture plates for treatments. After the indicated times, cells were collected,

centrifuged and supernatants were discarded. The cells were washed with PBS, fixed with 70% cold ethanol for 5 min at 4 °C and then incubated with DNA extraction buffer (0.2 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 0.004 M citric acid) at 37 °C for 10 min. Finally, cells were resuspended in 200  $\mu$ l PBS containing 100  $\mu$ g/ml RNase and 40  $\mu$ g/ml propidium iodide and incubated at 37 °C for 30 min in the dark. Quantitative analysis of cells with sub-G1 DNA content was carried out in a FACScan cytometer using the Cell Quest software (BD Biosciences).

# 4. Immunoblot detection of proteins

For detection of cytosolic proteins, cells were lysed in ice-cold lysis buffer containing 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 1% NP-40 and protease inhibitors for 30 min. Samples were then centrifuged for 10 min at 13000 rpm, supernatants were collected and protein levels were determined by the Bradford colorimetric assay (Sigma). After adding 6x loading buffer (0.1% bromophenol blue, 60% glycerol, 30% βmercaptoethanol, 12% SDS, 375 mM Tris-Cl pH 6.8) to each sample, proteins of cytosolic supernatants were resolved on SDS-PAGE minigels in reducing conditions and electrotransferred to Hybond-P polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (PVDF) (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK) by the semi-dry transference system Trans-Blot SD (BioRad) at a constant current (50 mA) for 1 h. Membranes were blocked with 5% nonfat milk in PBS 0.1% Tween 20 (PBS/Tween) for 1 h, washed with PBS/Tween and incubated for either 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4 °C with anti-caspase-9, anti-caspase-8 or anti-caspase-3 antibodies at 1µg/ml, 1:500 and 1:2000 dilutions, respectively, in PBS-Tween containing 1% non-fat milk. After washing 3 times for 5 min with PBS-Tween, membranes were incubated with the appropiate horseradish

peroxidase (HRP)-labelled goat anti-mouse or anti-rabbit antibody (1:10,000 dilution) for 1 h at room temperature and washed again. The blots were developed by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham) and exposed to film for autoradiography (Amersham). Loading controls were carried out by rehybridization of stripped membranes with an anti-human  $\beta$ -actin monoclonal antibody (Sigma).

#### 5. Flow cytometric analysis of mitochondrial membrane depolarization

Mitochondrial membrane depolarization was measured by using  $DiOC_6$  dye because of its high capacity to bind mitochondrial membranes. Fluorescence of  $DiOC_6$  is oxidationindependent and correlates with mitochondrial transmembrane potential. Briefly, cells (200.000 cells/well) were treated as indicated, collected and washed with PBS. Supernatants were then removed and cells were resuspended in 250 µl of PBS. After adding 40 nM of  $DIOC_6$  to each sample, they were incubated for 15 min in dark at room temperature.  $DiOC_6$  green fluorescence was measured by using the FL1 channel in FACScan cytometer and data were analyzed by using Cell Quest software.

#### 6. Flow cytometric analysis of ROS production

Intracellular ROS levels were measured by flow cytometry in cells loaded with the redox-sensitive dye DCFH-DA (5, 6-carboxy-2,7-dichlorofluorescein-diacetate). The nonfluorescent DCFH-DA readily diffuses into the cells, where it is hydrolysed to the polar derivative DCFH. Then, it is oxidized in the presence of free radicals to the highly fluorescent DCF, which is trapped inside the cell because of its poor permeability.

After stimulation, 250.000 cells/well were incubated in the dark for 30 min at 37 °C with 10  $\mu$ M DCFH-DA, washed and resuspended in PBS. Fluorescence of DCF was recorded on the FL-1 channel of FACScan flow cytometer, and data were analyzed with the Cell Quest program.

Results

#### **Oversulphated B100 EPS induce apoptosis in haematopoietic cell lines**

Previous results demonstrated that sulphatated EPS B100, N12 and FP34 caused a dosedependent inhibition of proliferation in Jurkat and CEM leukemic T-cell lines (Mata, J. A. et al, unpublished data). Whether this effect in cell proliferation was only due to inhibition of cell cycle or there was also an effect on cell viability had not been studied. Therefore, we started to investigate the effect of native and oversulphated forms of EPS B100, N12 and FP34 on the viaiblity of three different leukemic T-cell lines, Jurkat, MOLT-4 and CEM, as described in materials and methods. Cells were treated with 500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated and native forms of the three EPS for 24 hours. Cells were subsequently stained with propidium iodide for determining the percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells by flow cytometry.

We found that the native form of EPS B100 had no apoptotic effect in any of the T cell lines studied, whereas its oversulphated form strongly induced apoptosis. Flow cytometry analysis showed that 70.22%, 50.69% and 16.85% of Jurkat cells were apoptotic after treatment with the three doses indicated above of the oversulphated EPS B100 (figure1); 82.22%, 77.40% and 74.53% of apoptosis was induced in MOLT-4 (figure 2) and 32.245%, 18.5% and 13.25% of apoptosis was induced in CEM (figure 3) upon treatment with doses of 500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100, respectively. These results indicate that the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in leukemic T-cell lines is a dose-dependent and cell line-dependent effect. Of the three cell lines, MOLT-4 is the most sensitive to the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated form of B100 while CEM is the less sensitive cell line. There was no induction of apoptosis by any of the doses of native and oversulphated forms of N12 and FP34 in any

of the three T cell lines studied (figures 1, 2, 3 and data not shown). Thus, although a modest anti-proliferative effect is seen in these cells after treatment with native and oversulphated forms of B100, N12 and FP34, only oversulphated B100 has the ability to induce apoptosis in leukemic T-cell lines.



*Figure 1. Induction of apoptosis in Jurkat cells by EPS*. Jurkat cells (T cell leukemia) were treated for 24 h with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native or oversulphated EPS B100, N12 and FP34. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. A representative experiment out of three is shown. Control cells were untreated.



*Figure 2. Induction of apoptosis in MOLT-4 cells by EPS.* MOLT-4 (T cells leukemia) were treated for 24 h with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native or oversulphated EPS B100, N12 and FP34. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. A representative experiment out of three is shown. Control cells were untreated.



*Figure 3. Induction of apoptosis in CEM cells by EPS.* CEM cells were treated without or with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native B100 (B100N), oversulphated B100 (B100S), native FP34 (FP34N) and oversulphated FP34 (FP34S) for 24 h. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean ±SD from three independent experiments.

We analyzed the time-course of the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated EPS B100 in MOLT cells. The analysis of data showed 4.76%, 12.45%, 13.86% and 28.86% of apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100 upon 2, 4, 6 and 12 h of treatment, respectively (figure 4). Thus, the induction of apoptosis in MOLT-4 cells by oversulphated B100 starts at 4 hours, and at 12 hours it is highly significant.



Figure 4. Time-course of the induction of apoptosis in MOLT-4 cells by oversulphated B100. MOLT-4 cells were incubated with or without 50  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 (B100S) or native B100 (B100N) for 2, 4, 6 and 12 h. Sub-G1 apoptotic cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean ±SD from three independent experiments.

In order to study whether the pro-apoptotic activity of oversulphated B100 is specific for leukemic T-cells, we analysed the sensitivity of other haematopoietic tumor cell lines. First, we determined the effect of the different native and oversulphated EPS in the human Burkitt's lymphoma B-cell line Raji. It has been described that these cells are resistant to nuclear apoptosis induced by various stimuli, and neither mitochondrial activation nor activation of caspase-3 led to DNA fragmentation (Hirokawa et al., 2002).

Results shown in figure 5 indicate that there was no induction of apoptosis in Raji cells, neither by oversulphated nor by native forms of B100, N12 and FP34.

We then analyzed the effect of EPS in two other Burkitt's lymphoma B cell lines, Namalwa and Daudi; the EBV-transformed SAM31 B cells; the promyelocytic leukaemia cell line HL-60; the promonocytic leukaemia cell line U937; the erythroleukemia cell lines, K562 and HEL; the herpesvirus saimiri immortalized T cells ITA; the T cell leukaemia cell line HPB-ALL; and the mouse thymoma cell line BW5147. After treating the cells for 24 hours with the oversulphated EPS B100 at the doses of 500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml, the flow cytometry data analysis showed 33.58%, 43.5%, 24.78% of apoptosis in SAM31; 28.53%, 21.94% and 7.62% of apoptosis in HL-60; 30.95%, 12.77% and 5.28% of apoptosis in HPB-ALL; and 6.04%, 18.53% and 6.04% of apoptosis in K562 (figures 6, 7, 8 and 9). These results showed that oversulphated B100 induces moderate apoptosis in SAM31, HL-60, HPB-ALL and K562 cell lines, similar to that found in CEM cells. As previously observed, no apoptosis was detected in response to treatment with the native form of B100, N12 and FP34 or the oversulphated form of N12 and FP34 (figures 6, 7 and data not shown).



*Figure 5. Induction of apoptosis in Raji cells by EPS.* Raji cells were treated without or with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native B100, oversulphated B100, native N12, oversulphated N12, native FP34 and oversulphated FP34 for 24 h. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. Results of one representative experiment out of three are shown.



*Figure 6. Induction of apoptosis in SAM31 cells by EPS.* SAM31 cells were treated without or with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native (N) or oversulphated (S) EPS B100 and FP34 for 24 h. Sub-G1 apoptotic cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.



*Figure 7. Induction of apoptosis in HL-60 cells by EPS*. HL-60 cells were treated without or with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native (N) or oversulphated (S) EPS B100 and FP34 for 24 h. Sub-G1 apoptotic cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.



*Figure 8. Induction of apoptosis in HPB-ALL cells by oversulphated B100*. HPB-ALL cells were treated without or with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 (B100S) for 24 h. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was analyzed by flow cytometry Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.



*Figure 9. Induction of apoptosis in K562 cells by oversulphated B100.* K562 cells were incubated without or with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 (B100S) for 24 h and the percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry analysis. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

In contrast to the cell lines described above, we observed no effect of oversulphated B100 on the viability of HEL, U937, ITA, BW5147, Daudi and Namalwa cells (figure

10). The oversulphated forms of N12 and FP34 and the native forms of the three EPS did not induce apoptosis in these cell lines either (data not shown).



Figure 10. Induction of apoptosis in different haematopoietic cell lines by oversulphated B100. The indicated cell lines were treated with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 for 24 hours. Sub-G1 apoptotic cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

Our earlier experiments were based on 24 hours treatments of cells with different doses of oversulphated B100. Considering the possibility of a delay in the induction of apoptosis in the less sensitive cell lines, we analyzed the effect of native and oversulphated B100 at 48 hours in the moderately sensitive CEM and HL-60 cells and in the resistant Raji cells. As shown in figure 11, there was a modest increase in the induction of apoptosis in CEM cells, compared to that observed at 24 hours (figure 3), in response to all doses of oversulphated B100. In contrast, the percentage of apoptotic HL60 cells was similar to that observed at 24 hours (figure 7) and Raji cells remained resistant to oversulphated B100 after 48 hours treatment



*Figure 11. Induction of apoptosis in CEM, HL-60 and Raji cells by oversulphated B100 at 48 h incubation.* CEM, HL60 and Raji cells were treated with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 (B100S) or native B100 (B100N) for 48 h and the percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

Overall, these results indicate that oversulphated B100 EPS, but not native B100, induces apoptosis in human leukemic T cell lines such as Jurkat, MOLT-4, CEM and HPB-ALL, although the sensitivity of these cell lines is variable. B100S also modestly induces apoptosis in other hematopoietic tumor cells. In contrast, oversulphated and native form of N12 and FP34 EPS are unable to induce apoptosis although they have been demonstrated to show anti-proliferative activity against leukemic cell lines (Mata et al., unpublished results).

#### Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in non-haematopoietic cell lines

To determine the possible effect of oversulphated B100 in non-haematopoietic cells, we analyzed the induction of apoptosis in four human breast cancer cell lines, i.e. SKBr3,

EVSA-T, MCF-7 and MDA-MB231, and in one primary human decidual stromal cell line, DSC. We observed no effect in MDA and EVSA-T cell lines and a very mild effect in DSC cells (figure 12). In contrast, data analysis showed 19.4%, 26.82% and 19.4% of apoptosis in MCF-7 cells in response to 500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100, respectively (figure 12). Moreover, SKBr3 cells were also moderately sensitive to high doses of this EPS. There were not any effect of native form of B100 and native and oversulphated forms of N12 and FP34 on these cells (data not shown).



Figure 12. Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in breast tumor cells and primary decidual stromal cells. MDA-MB231, DSC, EVSA-T, MCF-7 and SKBr3 cells were incubated for 24 h with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

#### Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in primary normal lymphocytes

The fact that there was a deep induction of apoptosis in some T cell lines led us to investigate the effect of oversulphated B100 on primary lymphocytes of healthy individuals. To this end, we treated resting isolated T lymphocytes, as well as T lymphocytes activated for 6 and 10 days, with different doses of oversulphated and native B100 and in the presence or in the absence of IL-2. Only the higher dose of oversulphated B100 was able to slightly induce apoptosis in resting T lymphocytes both in the presence and in the absence of IL-2 (20.25% and 18.3%, respectively) (figure 13). In contrast, there was no induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in activated T lymphocytes, neither at 6-day nor at 10-day activation (figure 13). Native B100 had also no effect in normal T lymphocytes. These results clearly show a different behaviour between activated and resting lymphocytes of normal individuals in response to treatment with oversulphated B100 EPS, being resting lymphocytes moderately sensitive to this EPS.



Figure 13. Induction of apoptosis in resting and activated primary T lymphocytes by oversulphated B100. Resting and activated (6 days and 10 days after activation) T lymphocytes were treated with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of native (B100N) and oversulphated (B100S) B100 with or without IL-2 for 24 h. The percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

# Reproducibility and temperature stability of the oversulphated B100 EPS

To verify that the induction of apoptosis observed in response to oversulphated B100 was reproducible and not an artefact of the stock solution of this EPS used in the initial experiments, we analysed whether independently produced and purified batches of oversulphated B100 had the same effect on the viability of the human leukemic T cell line Jurkat. Therefore, Jurkat cells were treated with different doses of oversulphated B100 of different batches (B100S-1 and B100S-2). HEL cells were used as a negative control since earlier experiments showed that they were resistant to the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100. Doses of 500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of B100S-1 batch induced 59.43%, 55.92% and 18.88% of apoptosis, respectively, while 70.22%, 50.69% and 16.85% of apoptosis was observed in response to B100S-2 batch (figure 14). No induction of apoptosis was detected in HEL cells with either batch.



*Figure 14. Induction of apoptosis by independent batches of oversulphated B100*. Jurkat and HEL cells were treated with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of two different batches (B100S-1, B100S-2) of oversulphated B100 for 24 h. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

We also checked the effect of the storage temperature on the activity of oversulphated B100. Jurkat cells were treated with 500  $\mu$ g/ml and 50  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 stored at -20 °C, 4 °C and 37 °C. The analysis of results showed that oversulphated B100 stored at different temperatures had similar ability to induce apoptosis in Jurkat cells (figure 15).



Figure 15. Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 stored at different temperatures. Jurkat cells were incubated with different doses (500 and 50  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 stored at the indicated temperatures for 24 h, and the percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

## Apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100 in leukemic T cells is caspase-dependent

Induction of apoptosis in a cell results into transduction of signals through the intrinsic, the extrinsic or both interconnected pathways. Although one of them may prevail, depending on the apoptotic stimulus or the cell type examined, in most cases factors of both pathways act in concert, mutually facilitating and amplifying each other's effects. The study of the activation of caspase cascade can therefore provide information about the apoptotic pathway involved in oversulphated B100 induced apoptosis in T leukemic cell lines.

For detecting the activation of caspase-3 and caspase-8 by oversulphated B100, we treated Jurkat cells with 500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of native and oversulphated forms of B100 for 6 hours. Immunoblot assay clearly showed cleaved subunits of caspase-3 and caspase-8 at doses of 50 and 500  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 (figure 16). No activation of caspases was observed in cells treated with the native form of B100 (figure 16).



*Figure 16. Activation of caspases in response to treatment with oversulphated B100.* Jurkat cells were incubated without (C) or with different doses (500, 50 and 50  $\mu$ g/ml) of native (B100N) and oversulphated (B100S) B100 for 6 hours. After treatment, caspase-3 and caspase-8 processing was assayed by immunoblot. Bands correponding to cleaved products of caspase-3 (20, 17 and 12 kDa) and caspase-8 (43-41 kDa) are indicated. The results shown are representative of two independent experiments.

A time-course of caspase-3, caspase-8 and caspase-9 activation may provide useful information to better understand the cascade of caspases activation upon induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100. Jurkat cells were treated for 4, 6 and 8 hours with a dose of 50 µg/ml of oversulphated B100. The immunoblot detection of caspases clearly showed that activation of caspase-9 started at 4 hours while only a slight activation of caspase-3 was seen at this time and activation of caspase-8 started at 6 hours (figure 17). No caspase activation was observed upon 8 hours treatment with the native form of B100 (figure 17). These results suggest that caspase-9 is the initiator caspase in the pathway of apoptosis induction by oversulphated B100 and caspase-8 is possibly being activated downstream of effector caspases, such as caspase-3, as part of an amplification loop.





An issue that has received increasing attention during the last years is the existence of caspase-independent death programs. If apoptosis is blocked with caspase inhibitors, other cell death pathways may be initiated. To further prove that oversulphated B100 induces apoptosis in a caspase-dependent manner and that caspase-9 is activated upstream of caspase-3 and -8, we analysed the effect of two inhibitors of caspases, the general caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK and the specific caspase-9 inhibitor Z-LEHD-FMK, in the induction of apoptosis and the activation of caspases by oversulphated B100. These caspase inhibitors, which design is based on the optimal peptide recognition motifs described for each caspase, irreversibly bind to the active site of the corresponding caspase (Cryns and Yuan, 1998; Garcia-Calvo et al., 1998; Talanian et al., 1997c).

Jurkat cells were preincubated for 1 hour with the caspases inhibitor before treatment with oversulphated B100 for 12 hours. Flow cytometric analysis data in figure 18 show that both caspase inhibitors, Z-VAD and LEHD, completely prevented cell death induced by oversulphated B100. Tumor necrosis factor apoptosis ligand (TRAIL) is a type II transmembrane protein displaying expression in a broad range of tissues and exhibiting a high grade of homology with the cytotoxic Fas ligand (Boehrer et al., 2006). Employing the extrinsic pathway, TRAIL-induced apoptosis is dependent on the activation of caspases. Therefore, we analysed the effects of caspase inhibitors on the induction of apoptosis by TRAIL in Jurkat cells, as a positive control of the functionality of these inhibitors (figure 18).



*Figure 18. Effect of caspase inhibitors on the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100.* Jurkat cells were preincubated for 1 h with  $50\mu$ M Z-VAD-FMK or Z-LEHD-FMK before incubation with 50 µg/ml oversulphated B100 for 12 h. As a positive control, cells were incubated with 100 ng/ml of TRAIL. Apoptosis was assessed by analysis of the percentage of cells with sub-G<sub>1</sub> content. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

Immunoblot detection of caspase-8 and caspase-9 also showed inhibition by Z-VAD-FMK and Z-LEHD-FMK of the activation of both caspases in response to oversulphated B100 (figure 19). These results not only confirm that apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100 is caspase-dependent but also that initiator caspase-9 plays a critical role in this apoptotic pathway.



Figure 19. Effect of caspase inhibitors on the activation of caspases in response to oversulphated B100. Jurkat cells were preincubated with  $50\mu$ M Z-VAD-FMK or Z-LEHD-FMK before treatment with or without  $50 \mu$ g/ml oversulphated B100 for 12 h. Activation of caspase-8 and caspase-9 were analyzed by Western-blot. Bands corresponding to cleaved products of caspase-8 (43-41 kDa) and caspase-9 (37-35 kDa) are indicated. The results shown are representative of two independent experiments.

# Mitochondrial alterations associated with oversulphated B100-induces apoptosis in leukemic T cells

The results obtained in relation with the activation of the caspase cascade suggest that oversulphated B100 is acting through the mitochondrial pathway where caspase-9 is the first to be activated. Therefore, we decided to analyse mitochondrial alterations such as loss of mitochondrial transmembrane potential induced by oversulphated B100 as it may serve as a checkpoint for full commitment to apoptosis.

Analysis of mitochondrial membrane depolarization in MOLT-4 cells treated with different concentrations of oversulphated and native B100 showed that, only doses of 50

and 5  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 were able to induce the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential while no effect was observed with lower doses of this compound or with native B100 (figure 20). Cells were also treated with 500  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 but they were completely damaged, therefore, we were unable to analyze alteration of mitochondrial membrane potential at this concentration (data not shown). It has been shown that TRAIL-mediated apoptosis is accompanied by a loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. We therefore used this death ligand as a positive control in our experiments.



Figure 20. Alteration of mitochondrial membrane potential in reponse to treatment with oversulphated B100. MOLT-4 cells were treated with different doses (50, 5, 1 and 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 (B100S) and native B100 (B100N) for 24 h. Depolarization of mitochondrial membrane was analyzed by flow cytometry. As a positive control, cells were treated with 100 ng/ml TRAIL. Data shown are representative of two independent experiments.

The results about the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential were in agreement with those obtained by analysis of the percentage of apoptotic cells in response to treatment of cells with the same doses of native and oversulphated B100 (figure 21). We used concentrations of 1  $\mu$ g/ml and 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 in this set of experiments to establish the lowest dose able to induce apoptosis and alter mitochondrial potential and to verify that both events are correlated. This was further confirmed by the results obtained with the death ligand TRAIL used as a positive control. The percentage of apoptotic cells in response to TRAIL was similar to the percentage of apoptotic cells upon treatment with 5  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 (figure 21) and the same was true for the values of loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (figure 20).



Figure 21. Induction of apoptosis in response to treatment with different doses of oversulphated B100. MOLT-4 cells were treated with 50, 5, 1 and 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 (B100S) and native B100 (B100N) for 24 h. As a positive control, cells were treated with 100 ng/ml TRAIL. The percentage of sub-G1 apoptotic cells was determined. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

Together with the mitochondrial membrane depolarization, production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the mitochondria seem to play an important role in the

induction of apoptosis under both physiologic and pathologic conditions (Simon et al., 2000), contributing to the dismantling of the cell (Ricci et al., 2003). Thus, we analyzed the time course of ROS production in cells undergoing apoptosis in response to treatment with oversulphated B100. The analysis of results showed that accumulation of ROS started at 6 hours and it increased with time (figure 22). No increase in the production of ROS was observed in cells treated with native B100. Therefore, that increase of ROS levels in cells treated with oversulphated B100 may be an important step in the apoptotic route induced by this EPS.



*Figure 22. Production of ROS in response to treatment with oversulphated B100 EPS.* MOLT-4 cells were treated without (black line) or with 50 µg/ml of oversulphated B100 (violet line) or native B100 (green line) for 4, 6, 8 and 24 h. Production of ROS was determined by flow cytometry. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

The question arising from the observed early ROS accumulation after treatment with oversulphated B100 is whether intracellular oxidation is the responsible for the induction of apoptosis by this EPS. N-Acetyl Cystein (NAC) is a widely used thiolcontaining antioxidant that is precursor of reduced glutathione (GSH). GSH scavenges ROS in cells by interacting with OH- and  $H_2O_2$ , thus affecting ROS mediated signalling pathways. We analyzed the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in cells preincubated with NAC at a concentration previously established (Goldsmit et al., 2001; Oh and Lim, 2006). While 51.75% of apoptosis was detected upon 24 hours treatment with oversulphated B100 in the absence of NAC, 37.71% of apoptosis was observed when cells were treated in the presence of this antioxidant agent (figure 23), that is, NAC partially inhibited apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100. We also determined the production of ROS in cells preincubated with NAC before being stimulated with 50  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 for 4, 6, 8 and 24 hours. There was a partial inhibition of ROS production at 6 hours by NAC, however, no inhibition was observed at 8 and 24 hours (figure 24).



*Figure 23. Effect of NAC on the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100.* MOLT-4 cells were preincubated for 1 h with 10mM NAC before being treated with 50  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 (B100S) or native B100 (B100N) for 24 h. The percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry. Error bars show SD from three independent experiments.



*Figure 24. Inhibition by NAC of ROS production in cells treated with oversulphated B100.* MOLT-4 cells were treated with 50  $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 or native B100 for 4, 6, 8 and 24 h after being preincubated in the absence or in the presence of 10mM NAC for 1 h. Production of ROS was determined by flow cytometry. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

These results suggest that production of ROS may be a critical step in the induction of apoptosis by this EPS. NAC seems to be able to block the initial intracellular oxidation induced by oversulphated B100 but is inefficient at latter times and thus, cells undergo partial apoptosis in the presence of NAC.

# Overexpression of $Bcl-x_L$ causes partial protection of apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100

Bcl- $x_L$  and certain other members of the Bcl-2 family are powerful inhibitors of mitochondrial alteration and thus may prevent the activation of mitochondria-dependent pathways of apoptosis. To investigate the effect of Bcl- $x_L$  protein on oversulphated B100-induced apoptosis in leukemic T cells, we treated Jurkat cells overexpressing Bcl- $x_L$  and Jurkat cells transfected with the empty vector pcDNA3-neo with different concentrations of oversulphated B100 for 24 hours. As shown in figure 25, no induction of apoptosis was observed in Jurkat Bcl- $x_L$  upon treatment with 50 µg/ml of oversulphated B100. With the higher dose of 500 µg/ml there was a clear, although not complete, inhibition of cell death in Bcl- $x_L$ -overexpressing Jurkat cells as compared to mock-transfected cells. These results indicate that overexpression of Bcl- $x_L$  in Jurkat cells may at least partially inhibit the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 and further demonstrate the involvement of mitochondria in this apoptotic pathway.


*Figure 25. Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in Bclx-*<sub>L</sub> *overexpressing Jurkat cells.* Jurkat cells transfected with the empty vector pcDNA3-neo (Jurkat pcDNA3) or with pcDNA3-Bcl- $x_L$  (Jurkat Bcl- $x_L$ ) were treated with different doses (500 and 50 µg/ml) of oversulphated B100 for 24 h. Sub-G1 apoptotic cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Bars represent Mean±SD from three independent experiments.

## **Oversulphated B100 induces apoptosis in primary leukemic T cells**

Our previous data obtained by using leukemia cell lines encouraged us to investigate the effect of oversulphated B100 in primary leukemic cells. Blood samples from two different patients with acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) and acute T lymphocytic leukaemia (T-ALL), respectively, were collected and lymphocytes were treated with oversulphated B100. There was no induction of apoptosis in the myeloid leukaemia cells (data not shown). In contrast, a weak effect was observed with the dose of 500

 $\mu$ g/ml of oversulphated B100 in the acute lymphocytic leukaemia cells (figure 26) suggesting the possibility of utilizing the oversulphated B100 EPS in the treatment of this type of leukaemia. Native B100 had no effect either on AML cells or on ALL cells (data not shown).



Figure 26. Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 in primary T-Acute lymphocytic leukaemia cells. Freshly isolated T-ALL cells from a patient were treated with different doses (500, 50 and 5  $\mu$ g/ml) of oversulphated B100 for 24 h and the percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by flow cytometry.

Discussion

Halophiles thrive in environments with very high concentrations of salt (at least 2 M, approximately ten times the salt level of ocean water). Although halophilic bacteria have been relatively little studied, they have the potential for exciting and promising applications due their unique properties. Biologists are currently focusing in further recognizing those special activities of halophiles because of their potential roles for the development of a wide range of applications in food, pharmaceutical, petroleum, and other industries (Shatwell et al., 1990). Some special activities of the EPS produced by the extracellular matrix of bacteria are important for coping with the different external environmental conditions, and thus, help bacteria in surviving in animal, plants and other extreme conditions. Among the peculiar biological properties of EPS are the activities as blood anticoagulant, anti-tumour, anti-mutagenic, anti-complementary, immunomodulating, hypoglycemic, antiviral, hypolipidemic and anti-inflammatory (Srivastava, 1989) anti-bacterial, anti-fungal, anti-parasitic, etc., which play very important roles in the modulation of the immune system. It has been therefore evident an increasing interest in the investigation of the physical, chemical and biological properties and mechanisms of action of EPS (Yan et al., 1999a), as well as on the discovery of new ones (Tian et al., 1999a). However, there is a lack of knowledge for the controlled conversion of EPS for industrial exploitation. In this way, our investigation for exploring the immunobioproperties of EPSs of Halomonas maura (B100, N12) and Halomonas anticariensis (FP34) is an innovative approach for utilizing the immunobioproperties of these EPSs for therapeutic purposes.

Oversulphated EPS are rare among those of microbial origin, and the mechanisms of their actions remain obscure. We therefore started to investigate the biological effects that the native and oversulphated forms of B100, N12 and FP34 have on a panel of haematopoitic and non-haematopoitic cell lines. Our results showed that irrespective of their modulatory effects, the native form of B100 and the native and oversulphated forms of N12 and FP34 did not induce significant apoptosis in any of the haematopoitic and non-haematopietic cell lines, thus, excluding the possibility of utilizing them in therapeutic approaches based on the modulation of apoptosis. Remarkably, we observed a dose-dependent strong apoptosis induced by the oversulphated form of B100 in Jurkat and MOLT-4 cells and a moderate effect in other cells of both haematopoitic (CEM, SAM31, HL-60, HPB-ALL and K562 cell lines) and non-haematopoitic lineages (SKBrand MCF-7) cells. Oversulphated B100 has therefore 3 some specific immunobioproperties to which a number of cell lines have different sensitivities. Our observations that many cell lines of haematopoietic origin (HEL, U937, ITA, BW5147, Daudi and Namalwa) and non-haematopoietic cells (MDA, DSC and EVSA-T cells) are completely resistant to apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100 are also consistent with a susceptibility gradient in different cell lines to the pro-apoptotic activity of oversulphated B100 EPS. The optimal dose for the induction of apoptosis in both Jurkat and MOLT-4 cells is 50 µg/ml of oversulphated B100, as revealed by analysis of cell cycle and caspases cleavage detected by Western Blot. The optimal effect achieved at this low dose and the remarkable biological stability of the EPS suggests the possibility that the EPS sB100 will have a vigorous therapeutic potential in vivo. Furthermore, the apoptosis induced by EPS sB100 is a very rapid event as it appeared to start at 4 hours and a significant percentage of apoptotic cells were detected after only 12 hours treatment.

The conclusion that there was a deep induction of apoptosis in T cell lines led us to investigate the effect of oversulphated B100 on lymphocytes of normal individuals. The flow cytometric analysis of the cell cycle showed that oversulphated B100 induces very weak apoptosis in unstimulated fresh lymphocytes, but there was not any induction of apoptosis observed at 2, 6 and 10 days after activation of lymphocytes of normal individuals. This result was strong evidence supporting the conclusion that oversulphated B100 primarily induces apoptosis in tumor cells (Jurkat, MOLT) whereas their unstransformed counterparts are poor targets for the EPS.

Apoptotic cell death is essential for normal B-cell development and for shaping the Bcell repertoire, and therefore, investigating the effects of oversulphated B100 in inducing apoptosis in B cells allowed us to compare the different sensitivities of T and B cells to this apoptosis inductor. Our results showed that there was not any induction of apoptosis in Raji cells by oversulphated B100. This finding was not surprising since earlier studies reported that the human B lymphoma Raji cells are resistant to nuclear apoptosis induced by various stimuli, whereas HL-60 and Jurkat cells are apoptosissensitive cell lines (Kawabata et al., 1999). Moreover, none of the Burkitt's lymphoma B cell lines analyzed showed sensitivity to the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 indicating that this type of tumor cells are not suitable candidates for treatment with the EPS.

Apoptosis or type I programmed cell death involves biochemical events in a controlled, regulated fashion leading to a characteristic cell morphology and death in response to a variety of stimuli. Induction of apoptosis results into transduction of signals through either the intrinsic or extrinsic pathways or even through interconnection of both. Although one of them may prevail, depending on the apoptotic stimulus or the cell type examined, in most cases they act in concert, mutually facilitating and amplifying each other's effects. HPB-ALL cells are normally resistant to CD95-mediated apoptosis (Russo et al., 2003) but oversulphated B100 caused a moderate induction of apoptosis in these cells. These results indicate that oversulphated B100 is able to induce apoptosis in cell lines resistant to the induction of apoptosis via the extrinsic pathway.

Both extrinsic and intrinsic pathways of apoptosis lead to the execution of a death signal through activation of a caspase cascade. Caspase-3 is a downstream caspase of the caspase cascade that is common to both apoptotic pathways. Activation of caspase-3 cleaves the inhibitor of the caspase-activated deoxyribonuclease, and it becomes active leading to nuclear apoptosis. Immunoblot observation of the activation of caspases in Jurkat cells clearly showed the cleaved subunit of caspase-3 at 6 hours, supporting that the apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100 involves the induction of a caspase-dependent apoptotic pathway. Moreover, a general caspase inhibitor (Z-VAD-FMK) (Cryns and Yuan, 1998; Garcia-Calvo et al., 1998; Talanian et al., 1997b) caused not only the inhibition of activation of all caspases analyzed but also the inhibition of oversulphated B100-induced apoptosis.

Caspase-8 is the initiator caspase of the extrinsic pathway while caspase-9 is the most apical caspase in the intrinsic pathway. Our results demonstrate a clear activation of caspase-9 and a slight cleavage of caspase-3 is already observed at 4 hours after treatment with oversulphated B100 whereas cleavage of caspase-8 become evident only after 6 hours of exposure to the EPS. These data suggest that caspase-9 is the initiator caspase in the pathway of apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100. Caspase-8 is likely being activated downstream of effector caspases such as caspase-3, as part of an amplification loop. This possibility was further supported by experiments using the specific caspase-9 inhibitor (Z-LEHD-FMK) (Cryns and Yuan, 1998; Garcia-Calvo et al., 1998; Talanian et al., 1997a), which prevented not only the activation of caspase-9 but also that of caspases-3 and –8 as well as the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100. Induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100, therefore, involves an interconnection of both apoptotic pathways, although the intrinsic apoptotic pathway clearly prevails.

The early stage of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway, i.e. the stage which precedes nuclear disintegration, is characterized by the breakdown of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential ( $\Delta \Psi m$ ) (Cossarizza et al., 1994; Inai et al., 1997; Zamzami et al., 1996a) resulting into the release of several apoptotic factors, including the apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF), cytochrome *c* and other pro-apoptotic factors from the mitochondrial intermembrane space, thus inducing caspase activation and potentiating cell death. We have showed the loss of mitochondrial membrane potencial in MOLT-4 cells in response to doses of oversulphated B100 that are able to induce apoptosis, also demonstrating the involvement of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway in the induction of apoptosis by this EPS.

The Bcl-2 family of proteins are well characterized regulators of apoptosis that act upstream of caspase activation (Adams and Cory, 1998; Tsujimoto and Shimizu, 2000). Pro-apoptotic family members Bax and Bak may oligomerize and interact with VDAC to change mitochondrial membrane permeability and allow the release of apoptogenic factors into the cytosol. On the other hand, the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 and Bcl- $x_L$  proteins

bind and sequester Bax and Bak leading to the blockage of the induction of apoptosis. Partial inhibition of apoptosis induced by oversulphated B100 in Jurkat cells overexpressing  $Bcl-x_L$  further confirms the involvement of the mitochondrial apoptotic signals in the mechanism of cell death induced by oversulphated B100 EPS.

Apart from this pivotal role of mitochondria during the execution phase of apoptosis, it appears that reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by the mitochondria can be involved in cell death (Fleury et al., 2002). Mitochondria rapidly lose their transmembrane potential and generate reactive oxygen species (ROS), both of which are likely to contribute to the dismantling of the cell (Ricci et al., 2003). Treatment of cells with oversulphated B100 resulted into accumulation of ROS at 6 hours and it was maintained for at least 24 hours. The involvement of ROS in the induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100 is suggested by the fact that it was partially prevented by NAC antioxidant. This antioxidant inhibited ROS production at 6 hours but it was not able to block it at any time point after 8 hours of treatmen with oversulphated B100, which may explain the partial inhibitory effect against the induction of apoptosis by this EPS.

The high susceptibility of two leukemic T cell lines to oversulphated B100 suggests that this EPS may be an appropriate therapeutic strategy for the treatment of this type of tumors.

In agreement with that, we have observed a modest induction of apoptosis in primary cells from a T-ALL patient in response to oversulphated B100 while there was not any induction of apoptosis in cells from another patient with AML. This is a preliminary result that requires more experiments with patient samples before concluding that oversulphated B100 may be a new tool suitable for inducing apoptosis in primary leukemic cells, therefore opening the prospect for treatment of patients with T-cell leukaemia. In addition, experiments aiming to evaluate the toxicity and the efficacy of the oversulphated B100 EPS treatment of T cell leukemias in animal models are currently being planned.

Conclusions

- 1.- The oversulphated, but not the native, form of the *Halomonas maura* EPS B100 is a potent inducer of apoptosis. This proapoptotic activity is not observed with any of the native or oversulphated forms of the *Halomonas maura* EPS N12 or the EPS FP34 from *Halomona anticariensis*.
- 2.- The proapoptotic effect of the oversulphated form of EPS B100 shows a gradient of sensitivity within a panel of hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells, being leukemic T cell lines the best targets for the EPS. Primary and non-tumor T lymphocytes are resistant to induction of apoptosis by oversulphated B100.
- 3.- The apoptosis induced by the oversulphated form of B100 involves an early activation of the caspase cascade. The apical caspase in this cascade is caspase-9.
- 4.- The orderly activation of caspases, the alteration of mitochondrial membrane potential and the production of Reactive Oxygen Species are evidence supporting that the apoptosis induced by the oversulphated B100 EPS is triggered mainly through the mitochondrial or intrinsic pathway of opoptosis.
- 5.- The potent proapoptotic effect of oversulphated B100 on leukemic T cell lines as well as the effect observed on peripheral cells from a patient with T-ALL opens the possibility for therapeutic applications of the oversulphated B100 EPS in human T cell leukemias.

References

- 1. Adams, J.M. and Cory, S. (1998). The Bcl-2 protein family: arbiters of cell survival. Science. 281, 1322-1326.
- Allison,D.G. and Matthews,M.J. (1992). Effect of polysaccharide interactions on antibiotic susceptibility of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 73, 484-488.
- Alnemri,E.S., Livingston,D.J., Nicholson,D.W., Salvesen,G., Thornberry,N.A., Wong,W.W., and Yuan,J. (1996). Human ICE/CED-3 protease nomenclature. Cell 87, 171.
- Ames,B.N. (1989). Endogenous oxidative DNA damage, aging, and cancer. Free Radic. Res. Commun. 7, 121-128.
- 5. Ashkenazi,A. (2002). Targeting death and decoy receptors of the tumournecrosis factor superfamily. Nat. Rev. Cancer. 2, 420-430.
- Ashkenazi,A. and Dixit,V.M. (1998). Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science. 281, 1305-1308.
- Babineau, T.J., Marcello, P., Swails, W., Kenler, A., Bistrian, B., and Forse, R.A. (1994). Randomized phase I/II trial of a macrophage-specific immunomodulator (PGG-glucan) in high-risk surgical patients. Ann. Surg. 220, 601-609.
- Bakhshi,A., Jensen,J.P., Goldman,P., Wright,J.J., McBride,O.W., Epstein,A.L., and Korsmeyer,S.J. (1985). Cloning the chromosomal breakpoint of t(14;18) human lymphomas: clustering around JH on chromosome 14 and near a transcriptional unit on 18. Cell 41, 899-906.
- 9. Barnhart, B.C., Alappat, E.C., and Peter, M.E. (2003). The CD95 type I/type II model. Semin. Immunol. 15, 185-193.
- Bedlack,R.S., Traynor,B.J., and Cudkowicz,M.E. (2007). Emerging diseasemodifying therapies for the treatment of motor neuron disease/amyotropic lateral sclerosis. Expert. Opin. Emerg. Drugs 12, 229-252.

- Belizario, J.E., Alves, J., Occhiucci, J.M., Garay-Malpartida, M., and Sesso, A. (2007). A mechanistic view of mitochondrial death decision pores. Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res. 40, 1011-1024.
- 12. Black,R.A., Kronheim,S.R., and Sleath,P.R. (1989). Activation of interleukin-1 beta by a co-induced protease. FEBS Lett. *247*, 386-390.
- Boehrer,S., Nowak,D., Hoelzer,D., Mitrou,P.S., and Chow,K.U. (2006). The molecular biology of TRAIL-mediated signaling and its potential therapeutic exploitation in hematopoietic malignancies. Curr. Med. Chem. 13, 2091-2100.
- Boise,L.H., Gonzalez-Garcia,M., Postema,C.E., Ding,L., Lindsten,T., Turka,L.A., Mao,X., Nunez,G., and Thompson,C.B. (1993). bcl-x, a bcl-2-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. Cell 74, 597-608.
- Boldin,M.P., Goncharov,T.M., Goltsev,Y.V., and Wallach,D. (1996). Involvement of MACH, a novel MORT1/FADD-interacting protease, in Fas/APO-1- and TNF receptor-induced cell death. Cell 85, 803-815.
- Boldin,M.P., Varfolomeev,E.E., Pancer,Z., Mett,I.L., Camonis,J.H., and Wallach,D. (1995). A novel protein that interacts with the death domain of Fas/APO1 contains a sequence motif related to the death domain. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 7795-7798.
- Bolton,R.W. and Dyer,J.K. (1986). Human complement activation by purified Capnocytophaga exopolysaccharide. Measurement by radioimmunoassay. J. Periodontal Res. 21, 634-639.
- Bouchotroch,S., Quesada,E., del Moral,A., Llamas,I., and Bejar,V. (2001). Halomonas maura sp. nov., a novel moderately halophilic, exopolysaccharideproducing bacterium. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 51, 1625-1632.
- Brubaker, J.O., Li, Q., Tzianabos, A.O., Kasper, D.L., and Finberg, R.W. (1999). Mitogenic activity of purified capsular polysaccharide A from Bacteroides fragilis: differential stimulatory effect on mouse and rat lymphocytes in vitro. J. Immunol. *162*, 2235-2242.

- Bursch,W., Ellinger,A., Gerner,C., Frohwein,U., and Schulte-Hermann,R. (2000a). Programmed cell death (PCD). Apoptosis, autophagic PCD, or others? Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. *926:1-12.*, 1-12.
- Bursch,W., Hochegger,K., Torok,L., Marian,B., Ellinger,A., and Hermann,R.S. (2000b). Autophagic and apoptotic types of programmed cell death exhibit different fates of cytoskeletal filaments. J. Cell Sci. *113*, 1189-1198.
- Casu,B. (1985). Structure and biological activity of heparin. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 43:51-134., 51-134.
- Cerretti,D.P., Kozlosky,C.J., Mosley,B., Nelson,N., Van Ness,K., Greenstreet,T.A., March,C.J., Kronheim,S.R., Druck,T., Cannizzaro,L.A., and . (1992). Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Science 256, 97-100.
- Chan, T.A., Morin, P.J., Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K.W. (1998). Mechanisms underlying nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug-mediated apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. %20;95, 681-686.
- 25. Chinnaiyan, A.M., O'Rourke, K., Tewari, M., and Dixit, V.M. (1995). FADD, a novel death domain-containing protein, interacts with the death domain of Fas and initiates apoptosis. Cell. *%19;81*, 505-512.
- Cleary, J.A., Kelly, G.E., and Husband, A.J. (1999). The effect of molecular weight and beta-1,6-linkages on priming of macrophage function in mice by (1,3)-beta-D-glucan. Immunol. Cell Biol. 77, 395-403.
- Cleary,M.L. and Sklar,J. (1985). Nucleotide sequence of a t(14;18) chromosomal breakpoint in follicular lymphoma and demonstration of a breakpoint-cluster region near a transcriptionally active locus on chromosome 18. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 82, 7439-7443.
- Cossarizza, A., Kalashnikova, G., Grassilli, E., Chiappelli, F., Salvioli, S., Capri, M., Barbieri, D., Troiano, L., Monti, D., and Franceschi, C. (1994). Mitochondrial modifications during rat thymocyte apoptosis: a study at the single cell level. Exp. Cell Res. *214*, 323-330.

- Costerton, J.W., Lewandowski, Z., Caldwell, D.E., Korber, D.R., and Lappin-Scott, H.M. (1995). Microbial biofilms. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 49:711-45., 711-745.
- 30. Cryns, V. and Yuan, J. (1998). Proteases to die for. Genes Dev. 12, 1551-1570.
- Cummings, J., Ward, T.H., Ranson, M., and Dive, C. (2004). Apoptosis pathwaytargeted drugs--from the bench to the clinic. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1705, 53-66.
- Darmon,A.J., Nicholson,D.W., and Bleackley,R.C. (1995). Activation of the apoptotic protease CPP32 by cytotoxic T-cell-derived granzyme B. Nature 377, 446-448.
- 33. Debatin,K.M. and Krammer,P.H. (2004). Death receptors in chemotherapy and cancer. Oncogene. *23*, 2950-2966.
- 34. Denault, J.B. and Salvesen, G.S. (2002). Caspases: keys in the ignition of cell death. Chem. Rev. *102*, 4489-4500.
- Denault, J.B. and Salvesen, G.S. (2008). Apoptotic caspase activation and activity. Methods Mol. Biol. 414, 191-220.
- 36. Deveraux,Q.L., Takahashi,R., Salvesen,G.S., and Reed,J.C. (1997). X-linked IAP is a direct inhibitor of cell-death proteases. Nature *388*, 300-304.
- Earnshaw, W.C., Martins, L.M., and Kaufmann, S.H. (1999). Mammalian caspases: structure, activation, substrates, and functions during apoptosis. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 68:383-424., 383-424.
- Eisenberg,H. (1995). Life in unusual environments: progress in understanding the structure and function of enzymes from extreme halophilic bacteria. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 318, 1-5.
- Ellis, R.E., Yuan, J.Y., and Horvitz, H.R. (1991). Mechanisms and functions of cell death. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 7:663-98., 663-698.

- Enari,M., Sakahira,H., Yokoyama,H., Okawa,K., Iwamatsu,A., and Nagata,S. (1998). A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature *391*, 43-50.
- 41. Evans, M.E., Jones, D.P., and Ziegler, T.R. (2003). Glutamine prevents cytokineinduced apoptosis in human colonic epithelial cells. J. Nutr. *133*, 3065-3071.
- 42. Fernandez-Luna, J.L. (2007). Apoptosis regulators as targets for cancer therapy. Clin. Transl. Oncol. *9*, 555-562.
- 43. Fleury, C., Mignotte, B., and Vayssiere, J.L. (2002). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in cell death signaling. Biochimie. *84*, 131-141.
- 44. Fulda,S. and Debatin,K.M. (2006). Extrinsic versus intrinsic apoptosis pathways in anticancer chemotherapy. Oncogene. *25*, 4798-4811.
- Garcia-Calvo, M., Peterson, E.P., Leiting, B., Ruel, R., Nicholson, D.W., and Thornberry, N.A. (1998). Inhibition of human caspases by peptide-based and macromolecular inhibitors. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 32608-32613.
- 46. Ghobrial, I.M., Witzig, T.E., and Adjei, A.A. (2005). Targeting apoptosis pathways in cancer therapy. CA Cancer J. Clin. *55*, 178-194.
- Gibson, R.M. (2001). Does apoptosis have a role in neurodegeneration? BMJ. 322, 1539-1540.
- Goldsmit, Y., Erlich, S., and Pinkas-Kramarski, R. (2001). Neuregulin induces sustained reactive oxygen species generation to mediate neuronal differentiation. Cell Mol. Neurobiol. 21, 753-769.
- 49. Green, D.R. and Reed, J.C. (1998). Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science. 281, 1309-1312.
- 50. Gulli,L.F., Palmer,K.C., Chen,Y.Q., and Reddy,K.B. (1996). Epidermal growth factor-induced apoptosis in A431 cells can be reversed by reducing the tyrosine kinase activity. Cell Growth Differ. *7*, 173-178.

- Hail,N., Jr., Carter,B.Z., Konopleva,M., and Andreeff,M. (2006). Apoptosis effector mechanisms: a requiem performed in different keys. Apoptosis. *11*, 889-904.
- 52. Halaas,O., Olsen,W.M., Veiby,O.P., Lovhaug,D., Skjak-Braek,G., Vik,R., and Espevik,T. (1997). Mannuronan enhances survival of lethally irradiated mice and stimulates murine haematopoiesis in vitro. Scand. J. Immunol. *46*, 358-365.
- Halaas,O., Vik,R., and Espevik,T. (1998). Induction of Fas ligand in murine bone marrow NK cells by bacterial polysaccharides. J. Immunol. *160*, 4330-4336.
- Haroun-Bouhedja,F., Ellouali,M., Sinquin,C., and Boisson-Vidal,C. (2000). Relationship between sulfate groups and biological activities of fucans. Thromb. Res. 100, 453-459.
- 55. Hengartner, M.O. (2000). The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature. 407, 770-776.
- 56. Hirokawa,M., Kawabata,Y., and Miura,A.B. (2002). Dysregulation of apoptosis and a novel mechanism of defective apoptotic signal transduction in human B-cell neoplasms. Leuk. Lymphoma *43*, 243-249.
- 57. Hirsch,T., Marchetti,P., Susin,S.A., Dallaporta,B., Zamzami,N., Marzo,I., Geuskens,M., and Kroemer,G. (1997). The apoptosis-necrosis paradox. Apoptogenic proteases activated after mitochondrial permeability transition determine the mode of cell death. Oncogene. 15, 1573-1581.
- Hockenbery, D., Nunez, G., Milliman, C., Schreiber, R.D., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1990). Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. Nature 348, 334-336.
- 59. Holm,G.H. and Gabuzda,D. (2005). Distinct mechanisms of CD4+ and CD8+ Tcell activation and bystander apoptosis induced by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions. J. Virol. 79, 6299-6311.
- 60. Holm,G.H., Zhang,C., Gorry,P.R., Peden,K., Schols,D., De Clercq,E., and Gabuzda,D. (2004). Apoptosis of bystander T cells induced by human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 with increased envelope/receptor affinity and coreceptor binding site exposure. J. Virol. 78, 4541-4551.

- 61. Hughes, T. and Rusten, T.E. (2007). Origin and evolution of self-consumption: autophagy. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 607, 111-118.
- Inai,Y., Yabuki,M., Kanno,T., Akiyama,J., Yasuda,T., and Utsumi,K. (1997). Valinomycin induces apoptosis of ascites hepatoma cells (AH-130) in relation to mitochondrial membrane potential. Cell Struct. Funct. 22, 555-563.
- Irmler, M., Thome, M., Hahne, M., Schneider, P., Hofmann, K., Steiner, V., Bodmer, J.L., Schroter, M., Burns, K., Mattmann, C., Rimoldi, D., French, L.E., and Tschopp, J. (1997). Inhibition of death receptor signals by cellular FLIP. Nature 388, 190-195.
- Kawabata,Y., Hirokawa,M., Kitabayashi,A., Horiuchi,T., Kuroki,J., and Miura,A.B. (1999). Defective apoptotic signal transduction pathway downstream of caspase-3 in human B-lymphoma cells: A novel mechanism of nuclear apoptosis resistance. Blood. 94, 3523-3530.
- Kerr, J.F. (1965). A histochemical study of hypertrophy and ischaemic injury of rat liver with special reference to changes in lysosomes. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 90, 419-435.
- Kerr, J.F., Wyllie, A.H., and Currie, A.R. (1972). Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br. J. Cancer. 26, 239-257.
- Kinnally,K.W. and Antonsson,B. (2007). A tale of two mitochondrial channels, MAC and PTP, in apoptosis. Apoptosis. 12, 857-868.
- Kischkel,F.C., Hellbardt,S., Behrmann,I., Germer,M., Pawlita,M., Krammer,P.H., and Peter,M.E. (1995). Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. EMBO J. 14, 5579-5588.

- Kitada,S., Krajewski,S., Miyashita,T., Krajewska,M., and Reed,J.C. (1996). Gamma-radiation induces upregulation of Bax protein and apoptosis in radiosensitive cells in vivo. Oncogene. *12*, 187-192.
- 70. Klionsky,D.J. and Emr,S.D. (2000). Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. Science. 290, 1717-1721.
- Kostura, M.J., Tocci, M.J., Limjuco, G., Chin, J., Cameron, P., Hillman, A.G., Chartrain, N.A., and Schmidt, J.A. (1989). Identification of a monocyte specific pre-interleukin 1 beta convertase activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 86, 5227-5231.
- 72. Kroemer, G., Petit, P., Zamzami, N., Vayssiere, J.L., and Mignotte, B. (1995). The biochemistry of programmed cell death. FASEB J. *9*, 1277-1287.
- Kuida,K., Lippke,J.A., Ku,G., Harding,M.W., Livingston,D.J., Su,M.S., and Flavell,R.A. (1995). Altered cytokine export and apoptosis in mice deficient in interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Science 267, 2000-2003.
- Kuida,K., Zheng,T.S., Na,S., Kuan,C., Yang,D., Karasuyama,H., Rakic,P., and Flavell,R.A. (1996). Decreased apoptosis in the brain and premature lethality in CPP32-deficient mice. Nature 384, 368-372.
- Kushner, D.J. and Kamekura, M. (1988). Physiology of halophilic bacteria. In Halophilic bacteria, F.Rodriguez-Valera, ed. (Boca Raton: CRC Press), pp. 109-138.
- Lane, D.A. and Caso, R. (1989). Antithrombin: structure, genomic organization, function and inherited deficiency. Baillieres Clin. Haematol. 2, 961-998.
- Lane, D.A., Ryan, K., Ireland, H., Curtis, J.R., Nurmohamed, M.T., Krediet, R.T., Roggekamp, M.C., Stevens, P., and ten Cate, J.W. (1992). Dermatan sulphate in haemodialysis. Lancet 339, 334-335.
- Lawen,A. (2007). Another piece of the puzzle of apoptotic cytochrome c release. Mol. Microbiol. %20;..

- Lazebnik, Y.A., Kaufmann, S.H., Desnoyers, S., Poirier, G.G., and Earnshaw, W.C. (1994). Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a proteinase with properties like ICE. Nature *371*, 346-347.
- 80. Leigh, J.A. and Coplin, D.L. (1992). Exopolysaccharides in plant-bacterial interactions. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. *46:307-46.*, 307-346.
- Leuner, K., Pantel, J., Frey, C., Schindowski, K., Schulz, K., Wegat, T., Maurer, K., Eckert, A., and Muller, W.E. (2007). Enhanced apoptosis, oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in lymphocytes as potential biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. J. Neural Transm. Suppl 207-215.
- 82. Leung, M.Y., Liu, C., Koon, J.C., and Fung, K.P. (2006). Polysaccharide biological response modifiers. Immunol. Lett. *105*, 101-114.
- Li,H., Zhu,H., Xu,C.J., and Yuan,J. (1998). Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the Fas pathway of apoptosis. Cell. 94, 491-501.
- 84. Li,L.Y., Luo,X., and Wang,X. (2001). Endonuclease G is an apoptotic DNase when released from mitochondria. Nature. *412*, 95-99.
- 85. Li,P., Allen,H., Banerjee,S., Franklin,S., Herzog,L., Johnston,C., McDowell,J., Paskind,M., Rodman,L., Salfeld,J., and . (1995). Mice deficient in IL-1 betaconverting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 beta and resistant to endotoxic shock. Cell *80*, 401-411.
- Li,P., Nijhawan,D., Budihardjo,I., Srinivasula,S.M., Ahmad,M., Alnemri,E.S., and Wang,X. (1997). Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. Cell *91*, 479-489.
- Liou,A.K., Clark,R.S., Henshall,D.C., Yin,X.M., and Chen,J. (2003). To die or not to die for neurons in ischemia, traumatic brain injury and epilepsy: a review on the stress-activated signaling pathways and apoptotic pathways. Prog. Neurobiol. 69, 103-142.

- Liu,X., Kim,C.N., Yang,J., Jemmerson,R., and Wang,X. (1996). Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: requirement for dATP and cytochrome c. Cell. 86, 147-157.
- 89. Liu,X., Zou,H., Slaughter,C., and Wang,X. (1997). DFF, a heterodimeric protein that functions downstream of caspase-3 to trigger DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Cell *89*, 175-184.
- 90. Lu.X. Xie,W., Bradshaw, W.S., Simmons, D.L. (1995). Reed,D., and Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs cause apoptosis and induce cyclooxygenases in chicken embryo fibroblasts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 7961-7965.
- 91. Luo,X., Budihardjo,I., Zou,H., Slaughter,C., and Wang,X. (1998). Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. Cell. *94*, 481-490.
- MacFarlane, M., Ahmad, M., Srinivasula, S.M., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Cohen, G.M., and Alnemri, E.S. (1997). Identification and molecular cloning of two novel receptors for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 25417-25420.
- Mancini,M., Nicholson,D.W., Roy,S., Thornberry,N.A., Peterson,E.P., Casciola-Rosen,L.A., and Rosen,A. (1998). The caspase-3 precursor has a cytosolic and mitochondrial distribution: implications for apoptotic signaling. J. Cell Biol. 140, 1485-1495.
- Marchetti,P., Castedo,M., Susin,S.A., Zamzami,N., Hirsch,T., Macho,A., Haeffner,A., Hirsch,F., Geuskens,M., and Kroemer,G. (1996). Mitochondrial permeability transition is a central coordinating event of apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. *184*, 1155-1160.
- Martinez-Canovas, M.J., Bejar, V., Martinez-Checa, F., Paez, R., and Quesada, E. (2004a). Idiomarina fontislapidosi sp. nov. and Idiomarina ramblicola sp. nov., isolated from inland hypersaline habitats in Spain. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54, 1793-1797.

- 96. Martinez-Canovas, M.J., Bejar, V., Martinez-Checa, F., and Quesada, E. (2004b). Halomonas anticariensis sp. nov., from Fuente de Piedra, a saline-wetland wildfowl reserve in Malaga, southern Spain. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54, 1329-1332.
- Martinez-Canovas, M.J., Bejar, V., Martinez-Checa, F., and Quesada, E. (2004c). Halomonas anticariensis sp. nov., from Fuente de Piedra, a saline-wetland wildfowl reserve in Malaga, southern Spain. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54, 1329-1332.
- Martinez-Canovas, M.J., Quesada, E., Llamas, I., and Bejar, V. (2004d). Halomonas ventosae sp. nov., a moderately halophilic, denitrifying, exopolysaccharide-producing bacterium. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54, 733-737.
- 99. Martinez-Canovas, M.J., Quesada, E., Martinez-Checa, F., and Bejar, V. (2004e). A taxonomic study to establish the relationship between exopolysaccharide-producing bacterial strains living in diverse hypersaline habitats. Curr. Microbiol. 48, 348-353.
- Martinou, J.C. and Green, D.R. (2001). Breaking the mitochondrial barrier. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2, 63-67.
- 101. Mata,J.A., Bejar,V., Llamas,I., Arias,S., Bressollier,P., Tallon,R., Urdaci,M.C., and Quesada,E. (2006). Exopolysaccharides produced by the recently described halophilic bacteria Halomonas ventosae and Halomonas anticariensis. Res. Microbiol. 157, 827-835.
- Mizuta, T., Shimizu, S., Matsuoka, Y., Nakagawa, T., and Tsujimoto, Y. (2007). A Bax/Bak-independent mechanism of cytochrome c release. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 16623-16630.
- 103. Moxon,E.R. and Kroll,J.S. (1990). The role of bacterial polysaccharide capsules as virulence factors. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. *150:65-85.*, 65-85.
- 104. Muzio, M., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Kischkel, F.C., O'Rourke, K., Shevchenko, A., Ni, J., Scaffidi, C., Bretz, J.D., Zhang, M., Gentz, R., Mann, M., Krammer, P.H.,

Peter,M.E., and Dixit,V.M. (1996). FLICE, a novel FADD-homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/APO-1) death--inducing signaling complex. Cell *85*, 817-827.

- 105. Naik,E., Michalak,E.M., Villunger,A., Adams,J.M., and Strasser,A. (2007). Ultraviolet radiation triggers apoptosis of fibroblasts and skin keratinocytes mainly via the BH3-only protein Noxa. J. Cell Biol. 176, 415-424.
- 106. Neu,T.R., Dengler,T., Jann,B., and Poralla,K. (1992). Structural studies of an emulsion-stabilizing exopolysaccharide produced by an adhesive, hydrophobic Rhodococcus strain. J. Gen. Microbiol. 138, 2531-2537.
- 107. Neu, T.R. and Marshall, K.C. (1990). Bacterial polymers: physicochemical aspects of their interactions at interfaces. J. Biomater. Appl. *5*, 107-133.
- Nicholson, D.W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N.A., Vaillancourt, J.P., Ding, C.K., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Griffin, P.R., Labelle, M., Lazebnik, Y.A., and (1995a). Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature 376, 37-43.
- Nicholson, D.W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N.A., Vaillancourt, J.P., Ding, C.K., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Griffin, P.R., Labelle, M., Lazebnik, Y.A., and (1995b). Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature 376, 37-43.
- Nicholson, D.W. and Thornberry, N.A. (1997). Caspases: killer proteases. Trends Biochem. Sci. 22, 299-306.
- 111. Nishino, T. and Nagumo, T. (1992). Anticoagulant and antithrombin activities of oversulfated fucans. Carbohydr. Res. 229, 355-362.
- 112. O'Connell,A.R. and Stenson-Cox,C. (2007). A more serine way to die: defining the characteristics of serine protease-mediated cell death cascades. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1773, 1491-1499.
- 113. Oh,S.H. and Lim,S.C. (2006). A rapid and transient ROS generation by cadmium triggers apoptosis via caspase-dependent pathway in HepG2 cells and this is

inhibited through N-acetylcysteine-mediated catalase upregulation. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 212, 212-223.

- 114. Pan,G., O'Rourke,K., and Dixit,V.M. (1998). Caspase-9, Bcl-XL, and Apaf-1 form a ternary complex. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 5841-5845.
- 115. Parolis,H., Parolis,L.A., Boan,I.F., Rodriguez-Valera,F., Widmalm,G., Manca,M.C., Jansson,P.E., and Sutherland,I.W. (1996). The structure of the exopolysaccharide produced by the halophilic Archaeon Haloferax mediterranei strain R4 (ATCC 33500). Carbohydr. Res. 295, 147-156.
- 116. Pasricha, P.J., Bedi, A., O'Connor, K., Rashid, A., Akhtar, A.J., Zahurak, M.L., Piantadosi, S., Hamilton, S.R., and Giardiello, F.M. (1995). The effects of sulindac on colorectal proliferation and apoptosis in familial adenomatous polyposis. Gastroenterology. 109, 994-998.
- 117. Patchen,M.L., Liang,J., Vaudrain,T., Martin,T., Melican,D., Zhong,S., Stewart,M., and Quesenberry,P.J. (1998). Mobilization of peripheral blood progenitor cells by Betafectin PGG-Glucan alone and in combination with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Stem Cells. 16, 208-217.
- 118. Pereira, C., Camougrand, N., Manon, S., Sousa, M.J., and Corte-Real, M. (2007). ADP/ATP carrier is required for mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and cytochrome c release in yeast apoptosis. Mol. Microbiol. ..
- 119. Piazza,G.A., Rahm,A.L., Krutzsch,M., Sperl,G., Paranka,N.S., Gross,P.H., Brendel,K., Burt,R.W., Alberts,D.S., Pamukcu,R., and . (1995). Antineoplastic drugs sulindac sulfide and sulfone inhibit cell growth by inducing apoptosis. Cancer Res. 55, 3110-3116.
- 120. Ray,C.A., Black,R.A., Kronheim,S.R., Greenstreet,T.A., Sleath,P.R., Salvesen,G.S., and Pickup,D.J. (1992). Viral inhibition of inflammation: cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Cell 69, 597-604.
- 121. Renehan, A.G., Booth, C., and Potten, C.S. (2001). What is apoptosis, and why is it important? BMJ. *322*, 1536-1538.

- 122. Ricci, J.E., Gottlieb, R.A., and Green, D.R. (2003). Caspase-mediated loss of mitochondrial function and generation of reactive oxygen species during apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 160, 65-75.
- 123. Richardson, H. and Kumar, S. (2002). Death to flies: Drosophila as a model system to study programmed cell death. J. Immunol. Methods. *265*, 21-38.
- 124. Rowinsky,E.K. (2005). Targeted induction of apoptosis in cancer management: the emerging role of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor activating agents. J. Clin. Oncol. %20;23, 9394-9407.
- Roy,S. and Nicholson,D.W. (2000). Cross-talk in cell death signaling. J. Exp. Med. 192, F21-F25.
- 126. Ruiz-Bravo,A., Jimenez-Valera,M., Moreno,E., Guerra,V., and Ramos-Cormenzana,A. (2001). Biological response modifier activity of an exopolysaccharide from Paenibacillus jamilae CP-7. Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol. 8, 706-710.
- 127. Russo, M., Palumbo, R., Mupo, A., Tosto, M., Iacomino, G., Scognamiglio, A., Tedesco, I., Galano, G., and Russo, G.L. (2003). Flavonoid quercetin sensitizes a CD95-resistant cell line to apoptosis by activating protein kinase Calpha. Oncogene. 22, 3330-3342.
- 128. Saelens,X., Festjens,N., Vande,W.L., van Gurp,M., van Loo,G., and Vandenabeele,P. (2004). Toxic proteins released from mitochondria in cell death. Oncogene. 23, 2861-2874.
- 129. Schumacher,G., Scheunert,S., Rueggeberg,A., Bachem,M.G., Nussler,A.K., Spinelli,A., Mukhopadhyay,T., Pratschke,J., and Neuhaus,P. (2006). A very low toxic agent induces apoptosis and reduces growth of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 21, 1207-1212.
- Shanmugam, M., Mody, K.H., and Siddhanta, A.K. (2001). Blood anticoagulant sulphated polysaccharides of the marine green algae Codium dwarkense (Boergs.) and C. tomentosum (Huds.) Stackh. Indian J. Exp. Biol. 39, 365-370.

- 131. Shatwell,K.P., Sutherland,I.W., and Ross-Murphy,S.B. (1990). Influence of acetyl and pyruvate substituents on the solution properties of xanthan polysaccharide. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. *12*, 71-78.
- 132. Sherwood,E.R., Williams,D.L., McNamee,R.B., Jones,E.L., Browder,I.W., and Di Luzio,N.R. (1987). Enhancement of interleukin-1 and interleukin-2 production by soluble glucan. Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 9, 261-267.
- 133. Shiff,S.J., Koutsos,M.I., Qiao,L., and Rigas,B. (1996). Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs inhibit the proliferation of colon adenocarcinoma cells: effects on cell cycle and apoptosis. Exp. Cell Res. 222, 179-188.
- Shiff,S.J., Qiao,L., Tsai,L.L., and Rigas,B. (1995). Sulindac sulfide, an aspirinlike compound, inhibits proliferation, causes cell cycle quiescence, and induces apoptosis in HT-29 colon adenocarcinoma cells. J. Clin. Invest 96, 491-503.
- 135. Shimizu,S., Ide,T., Yanagida,T., and Tsujimoto,Y. (2000). Electrophysiological study of a novel large pore formed by Bax and the voltage-dependent anion channel that is permeable to cytochrome c. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 12321-12325.
- Shu,H.B., Halpin,D.R., and Goeddel,D.V. (1997). Casper is a. Immunity. 6, 751-763.
- 137. Siddhanta,A.K., Shanmugam,M., Mody,K.H., Goswami,A.M., and Ramavat,B.K. (1999). Sulphated polysaccharides of Codium dwarkense Boergs. from the west coast of India: chemical composition and blood anticoagulant activity. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 26, 151-154.
- 138. Siegel,R.M., Frederiksen,J.K., Zacharias,D.A., Chan,F.K., Johnson,M., Lynch,D., Tsien,R.Y., and Lenardo,M.J. (2000). Fas preassociation required for apoptosis signaling and dominant inhibition by pathogenic mutations. Science. 288, 2354-2357.
- Simon,H.U., Haj-Yehia,A., and Levi-Schaffer,F. (2000). Role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in apoptosis induction. Apoptosis. 5, 415-418.

- 140. Sjostrom, J. and Bergh, J. (2001). How apoptosis is regulated, and what goes wrong in cancer. BMJ. 322, 1538-1539.
- 141. Soltys, J. and Quinn, M.T. (1999). Modulation of endotoxin- and enterotoxininduced cytokine release by in vivo treatment with beta-(1,6)-branched beta-(1,3)-glucan. Infect. Immun. 67, 244-252.
- 142. Srivastava,K.C. and Mustafa,T. (1989). Ginger (Zingiber officinale) and rheumatic disorders. Med. Hypotheses 29, 25-28.
- Srivastava, R. (1989). Inhibition of neutrophil response by curcumin. Agents Actions 28, 298-303.
- 144. Strasser, A., Harris, A.W., Jacks, T., and Cory, S. (1994). DNA damage can induce apoptosis in proliferating lymphoid cells via p53-independent mechanisms inhibitable by Bcl-2. Cell. *79*, 329-339.
- 145. Susin,S.A., Lorenzo,H.K., Zamzami,N., Marzo,I., Snow,B.E., Brothers,G.M., Mangion,J., Jacotot,E., Costantini,P., Loeffler,M., Larochette,N., Goodlett,D.R., Aebersold,R., Siderovski,D.P., Penninger,J.M., and Kroemer,G. (1999). Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. Nature. 397, 441-446.
- Sutherland, I.W. (1985). Biosynthesis and composition of gram-negative bacterial extracellular and wall polysaccharides. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 39:243-70., 243-270.
- 147. Takai,D., Park,S.H., Takada,Y., Ichinose,S., Kitagawa,M., and Akashi,M. (2006). UV-irradiation induces oxidative damage to mitochondrial DNA primarily through hydrogen peroxide: analysis of 8-oxodGuo by HPLC. Free Radic. Res. 40, 1138-1148.
- 148. Takebayashi,H., Oida,H., Fujisawa,K., Yamaguchi,M., Hikida,T., Fukumoto,M., Narumiya,S., and Kakizuka,A. (1996). Hormone-induced apoptosis by Fasnuclear receptor fusion proteins: novel biological tools for controlling apoptosis in vivo. Cancer Res. 56, 4164-4170.

- 149. Talanian, R.V., Quinlan, C., Trautz, S., Hackett, M.C., Mankovich, J.A., Banach, D., Ghayur, T., Brady, K.D., and Wong, W.W. (1997b). Substrate specificities of caspase family proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 9677-9682.
- Talanian, R.V., Quinlan, C., Trautz, S., Hackett, M.C., Mankovich, J.A., Banach, D., Ghayur, T., Brady, K.D., and Wong, W.W. (1997c). Substrate specificities of caspase family proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 9677-9682.
- Talanian, R.V., Quinlan, C., Trautz, S., Hackett, M.C., Mankovich, J.A., Banach, D., Ghayur, T., Brady, K.D., and Wong, W.W. (1997a). Substrate specificities of caspase family proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 9677-9682.
- 152. Teien,A.N., Abildgaard,U., and Hook,M. (1976). The anticoagulant effect of heparan sulfate and dermatan sulfate. Thromb. Res. *8*, 859-867.
- 153. Tewari,M., Quan,L.T., O'Rourke,K., Desnoyers,S., Zeng,Z., Beidler,D.R., Poirier,G.G., Salvesen,G.S., and Dixit,V.M. (1995). Yama/CPP32 beta, a mammalian homolog of CED-3, is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. Cell *81*, 801-809.
- Thornberry, N.A. (1997). The caspase family of cysteine proteases. Br. Med. Bull. 53, 478-490.
- 155. Thornberry,N.A., Bull,H.G., Calaycay,J.R., Chapman,K.T., Howard,A.D., Kostura,M.J., Miller,D.K., Molineaux,S.M., Weidner,J.R., Aunins,J., and . (1992). A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1 beta processing in monocytes. Nature 356, 768-774.
- 156. Thornberry, N.A. and Lazebnik, Y. (1998). Caspases: enemies within. Science 281, 1312-1316.
- 157. Thornberry, N.A., Rosen, A., and Nicholson, D.W. (1997). Control of apoptosis by proteases. Adv. Pharmacol. *41*, 155-177.
- 158. Tian,X.X., Li,A., Zhou,W., Farrugia,I.V., and Groves,M.J. (1999b). Isolation and biological activities of an antineoplastic protein-polysaccharide complex (PS4A) obtained from Mycobacterium vaccae. Anticancer Res. 19, 237-243.

- 159. Tian,X.X., Li,A., Zhou,W., Farrugia,I.V., and Groves,M.J. (1999a). Isolation and biological activities of an antineoplastic protein-polysaccharide complex (PS4A) obtained from Mycobacterium vaccae. Anticancer Res. 19, 237-243.
- 160. Tsujimoto,Y., Cossman,J., Jaffe,E., and Croce,C.M. (1985). Involvement of the bcl-2 gene in human follicular lymphoma. Science *228*, 1440-1443.
- 161. Tsujimoto, Y. and Shimizu, S. (2000). Bcl-2 family: life-or-death switch. FEBS Lett. 466, 6-10.
- 162. Turrens, J.F. (1997). Superoxide production by the mitochondrial respiratory chain. Biosci. Rep. 17, 3-8.
- Tzianabos, A.O. (2000). Polysaccharide immunomodulators as therapeutic agents: structural aspects and biologic function. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 13, 523-533.
- Tzianabos,A.O., Gibson,F.C., III, Cisneros,R.L., and Kasper,D.L. (1998).
   Protection against experimental intraabdominal sepsis by two polysaccharide immunomodulators. J. Infect. Dis. 178, 200-206.
- 165. Tzianabos,A.O., Russell,P.R., Onderdonk,A.B., Gibson,F.C., III, Cywes,C., Chan,M., Finberg,R.W., and Kasper,D.L. (1999). IL-2 mediates protection against abscess formation in an experimental model of sepsis. J. Immunol. *163*, 893-897.
- 166. Verhagen,A.M., Ekert,P.G., Pakusch,M., Silke,J., Connolly,L.M., Reid,G.E., Moritz,R.L., Simpson,R.J., and Vaux,D.L. (2000). Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. Cell. 102, 43-53.
- 167. Verhagen,A.M., Silke,J., Ekert,P.G., Pakusch,M., Kaufmann,H., Connolly,L.M., Day,C.L., Tikoo,A., Burke,R., Wrobel,C., Moritz,R.L., Simpson,R.J., and Vaux,D.L. (2002). HtrA2 promotes cell death through its serine protease activity and its ability to antagonize inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 445-454.

- 168. Wakshull,E., Brunke-Reese,D., Lindermuth,J., Fisette,L., Nathans,R.S., Crowley,J.J., Tufts,J.C., Zimmerman,J., Mackin,W., and Adams,D.S. (1999).
  PGG-glucan, a soluble beta-(1,3)-glucan, enhances the oxidative burst response, microbicidal activity, and activates an NF-kappa B-like factor in human PMN: evidence for a glycosphingolipid beta-(1,3)-glucan receptor. Immunopharmacology *41*, 89-107.
- 169. Walker,N.P., Talanian,R.V., Brady,K.D., Dang,L.C., Bump,N.J., Ferenz,C.R., Franklin,S., Ghayur,T., Hackett,M.C., Hammill,L.D., and . (1994). Crystal structure of the cysteine protease interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme: a (p20/p10)2 homodimer. Cell 78, 343-352.
- Wallach,D., Varfolomeev,E.E., Malinin,N.L., Goltsev,Y.V., Kovalenko,A.V., and Boldin,M.P. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor receptor and Fas signaling mechanisms. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 17:331-67., 331-367.
- Wang,J., Chun,H.J., Wong,W., Spencer,D.M., and Lenardo,M.J. (2001). Caspase10 is an initiator caspase in death receptor signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.
  A. %20;98, 13884-13888.
- Wang,J. and Lenardo,M.J. (2000). Roles of caspases in apoptosis, development, and cytokine maturation revealed by homozygous gene deficiencies. J. Cell Sci. *113 (Pt 5)*, 753-757.
- 173. Wang,J., Zheng,L., Lobito,A., Chan,F.K., Dale,J., Sneller,M., Yao,X., Puck,J.M., Straus,S.E., and Lenardo,M.J. (1999). Inherited human Caspase 10 mutations underlie defective lymphocyte and dendritic cell apoptosis in autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome type II. Cell. 98, 47-58.
- Wang,L., Miura,M., Bergeron,L., Zhu,H., and Yuan,J. (1994). Ich-1, an Ice/ced-3-related gene, encodes both positive and negative regulators of programmed cell death. Cell 78, 739-750.
- 175. Whistler, R.L., Bushway, A.A., and Singh, P.P. (1976). Noncytotoxic, antitumor polysaccharides. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. *32:235-75.*, 235-275.

- Whitfield,C. (1988). Bacterial extracellular polysaccharides. Can. J. Microbiol. 34, 415-420.
- 177. Williams,G.T. and Smith,C.A. (1993). Molecular regulation of apoptosis: genetic controls on cell death. Cell 74, 777-779.
- Wilson,K.P., Black,J.A., Thomson,J.A., Kim,E.E., Griffith,J.P., Navia,M.A., Murcko,M.A., Chambers,S.P., Aldape,R.A., Raybuck,S.A., and . (1994). Structure and mechanism of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Nature *370*, 270-275.
- 179. Yan,J., Vetvicka,V., Xia,Y., Coxon,A., Carroll,M.C., Mayadas,T.N., and Ross,G.D. (1999a). Beta-glucan, a "specific" biologic response modifier that uses antibodies to target tumors for cytotoxic recognition by leukocyte complement receptor type 3 (CD11b/CD18). J. Immunol. *163*, 3045-3052.
- 180. Yan,J., Vetvicka,V., Xia,Y., Coxon,A., Carroll,M.C., Mayadas,T.N., and Ross,G.D. (1999b). Beta-glucan, a "specific" biologic response modifier that uses antibodies to target tumors for cytotoxic recognition by leukocyte complement receptor type 3 (CD11b/CD18). J. Immunol. *163*, 3045-3052.
- 181. Yang, J., Liu, X., Bhalla, K., Kim, C.N., Ibrado, A.M., Cai, J., Peng, T.I., Jones, D.P., and Wang, X. (1997). Prevention of apoptosis by Bcl-2: release of cytochrome c from mitochondria blocked. Science 275, 1129-1132.
- 182. Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H.M., and Horvitz, H.R. (1993). The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme. Cell 75, 641-652.
- 183. Zamzami,N., Marchetti,P., Castedo,M., Decaudin,D., Macho,A., Hirsch,T., Susin,S.A., Petit,P.X., Mignotte,B., and Kroemer,G. (1995a). Sequential reduction of mitochondrial transmembrane potential and generation of reactive oxygen species in early programmed cell death. J. Exp. Med. 182, 367-377.
- 184. Zamzami, N., Marchetti, P., Castedo, M., Hirsch, T., Susin, S.A., Masse, B., and Kroemer, G. (1996a). Inhibitors of permeability transition interfere with the

disruption of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential during apoptosis. FEBS Lett. *384*, 53-57.

- 185. Zamzami,N., Marchetti,P., Castedo,M., Zanin,C., Vayssiere,J.L., Petit,P.X., and Kroemer,G. (1995b). Reduction in mitochondrial potential constitutes an early irreversible step of programmed lymphocyte death in vivo. J. Exp. Med. *181*, 1661-1672.
- 186. Zamzami,N., Susin,S.A., Marchetti,P., Hirsch,T., Gomez-Monterrey,I., Castedo,M., and Kroemer,G. (1996b). Mitochondrial control of nuclear apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. 183, 1533-1544.
- Zapata,J.M., Pawlowski,K., Haas,E., Ware,C.F., Godzik,A., and Reed,J.C. (2001). A diverse family of proteins containing tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor domains. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24242-24252.